


CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which 
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective 
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision 
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is 
a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded 
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the 
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of 
this annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability 
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this annual 
report.

This annual report, for which the directors (the “Directors” and each the “Director”) of SuperRobotics Holdings Limited 
(the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, 
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock 
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, 
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained 
in this annual report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are 
no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this annual report misleading.

This annual report will remain on the “Latest Company Announcements” page of the GEM website at www.hkgem.com 
for a minimum period of 7 days from the date of its publication and on the Company’s website at www.superrobotics.com.hk.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

I presented herewith the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

In 2020, the once-in-a-century COVID-19 epidemic hit the global economy severely. The blockade measures of various 
countries once caused a large-scale shutdown of the economy, the unemployment rate soared, and the GDP decline 
generally hit a historical extreme. Due to supply chain disruptions, suppressed demand, and anti-epidemic restriction 
policies during this special periods, many industries in Hong Kong were sluggish and shrinking. The large-scale public 
health crisis has directly harmed economic activities, especially the consumer-oriented and tourism-related industries, 
which have suffered a heavy blow. As a result, Group’s sale of beauty products and provision of therapy services 
(collectively the ‘Beauty Business’) continued to deteriorate, faced with unprecedented challenges. Our Group has 
actively taken a series of measures, following the government’s epidemic prevention measures, and responded to 
the crisis through limited marketing models. Although the Group does not expect the beauty business to resume its 
vitality in the short term, the social atmosphere has also turned calm under the influence of the continuously controlled 
epidemic, providing a good foundation for Hong Kong’s economic recovery. The Group is confident in the long-term 
prospects for the sale of beauty products and provision of therapy services market.

For the engineering products, the Group mainly offers robotics products. For the provision of engineering related 
services, the Group provides research and development, design, production, sales, equipment installation, support 
and maintenance service for robotics and automation systems with multi-applications, comprehensively covering the 
fields of police, commercial, civilian, industrial and medical with research and development teams globally and nearly 
40 years of rich experience, committed to promoting the popularization and promotion of robot products with China’s 
independent intellectual property rights and core technologies.

In the year 2020, the epidemic has been basically under control in China. But the widespread in some countries and 
regions overseas has seriously affected the lives and economic activities of local residents. The global economy 
was in a severe recession. There were still some divergences between China and the United States. The uncertainty 
of epidemic prevention and control and economic recovery has urged companies from various countries to adopt 
strategic measures and use policy space to actively explore development paths in the post-epidemic era. Following the 
continuous adjustment of the industrial structure after the epidemic, the digital economy will further increase the level 
of automation in the future, machines will replace manpower, and technological competition will become more intense. 
With the industries such as 5G, artificial intelligence, quantum computing and so on are included in key support areas, 
the Group insists on exploring the in-depth value of artificial intelligence, upholding the concept of intelligent services 
and intelligent creation of the future, and in-depth exploration and integration of multiple sensor, navigation technology, 
AI vision, high-speed communication technology and other leading technologies. The self-branded service robots, 
patrol robots, special robots, inspection robots, distribution robots and other products launched are widely used in 
airport, ports, property communities, exhibition halls, government services, smart communities, special operations and 
other fields, empowering and serving users with smart robots and rich smart application solutions, discovering the in-
deep value of artificial intelligence.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

In January 2020, the Group’s Shenzhen Anzer Intelligent Robot Co., Ltd, together with Shaanxi Zhongjian Jianle Co., 
Ltd, Xi’an Summer Robotics Co., Ltd, Fengdong Property and other enterprises jointly launched intelligent patrol robots 
in the first large-scale waterfront ecological park in the western suburbs of Xi’an City, Shaanxi Province, promoting the 
intelligent construction of scenic spots, assisting manpower in realizing 24-hour uninterrupted inspections, improving 
the safety of scenic spots, and practicing the new concept of “smart tourism”. In the same month, Anzer intelligent 
service robots started to work at the Vehicle Management Office of Longli County, Guizhou Province, optimized 
business handling procedures through providing information consultation for the masses, eased staff pressure, 
improved service quality, enhanced mass service experience, and made car driving management and service more 
humanized, technologizing and convenient. At the end of March 2020, China Mobile Chengdu Branch and Anzer 
launched an intelligent disinfection and cleaning robot connected with 5G network technology to help the Chengdu 
Double Heritage Marathon Healthy Run. By maximizing the empowerment of robots, it expands the physical boundaries 
of robots and the scope of work, guaranteeing the safety of the masses. On April 3, 2020, Anzer Intelligent AI Guided 
Robot was launched in the People’s Court of Chengdu High-tech District, comprehensively using face following, face 
recognition, sound source localization and other technologies to help the construction of smart courts for fair justice. 
Subsequently, Anzer’s intelligent AI government service robot settled in the People’s Government of Huizhou City, 
Guangdong Province. Through non-contact body temperature detection, the robot was able to ensure public safety, 
and by using lidar to navigate autonomously to welcome guests, the robot could guide the masses to achieve efficient 
government affairs exercise. On April 23, 2020, Anzer 5G intelligent robot contributed to the successful holding of the 
two sessions of Dazhou City, Sichuan Province. From peripheral security patrols, to internal welcoming, disinfection 
and cleaning, body temperature testing, emergent explosive clearing and other tasks, 5G intelligent robots were used 
to ensure the convening of the two sessions to the greatest extent. As the first city in Sichuan Province to hold the 
two sessions after the outbreak of the epidemic, Anzer 5G intelligent patrol robots, EOD robots, service robots, and 
disinfection cleaning robots have attracted the attention of many cities and regions for their outstanding works in 
the viruses prevention, security, and services of the two sessions in Dazhou. On April 29 of the same year, Anzer 
AI intelligent robot “joined” the rural commercial bank of Huizhou City, Guangdong Province, and provided services 
such as voice interaction, business consultation and explanation, customer diversion, and introduction of new wealth 
management products to customers. Service personnel are freed from tedious reception work, work efficiency and 
service level have been greatly improved. In May 2020, the exhibition robots in Anzer Intelligent Exhibition Hall applied 
its function in the Enterprise and Public Economic Crime Risk Prevention and Control Center of Danyang City by 
welcoming guests and guiding with explanation, which combined artificial intelligence with exhibition hall construction 
to fully realize the intelligence of the exhibition hall through multimedia linkage control,, and to effectively improve the 
service quality and user experience of the venue. In the same month, Anzer successfully delivered a customized X-ray 
EOD detection robot to the Shenzhen Special Police Detachment to eliminate explosion risks and maintain the safety 
of police personnel and the public.
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As the epidemic is raging, the Group has always practiced the concept of “science and technology serve mankind, 
intelligence will change lives”, and strived to fight the epidemic and protected the general public through the application 
of its anti-epidemic intelligent robots. The epidemic prevention service robots launched by the Group are equipped 
with functions such as human body temperature measurement, fever alarm, mask recognition, epidemic prevention 
propaganda, face recognition and contactless attendance, etc., and can be deployed in key epidemic prevention 
areas for epidemic prevention work to meet the technological and intelligent epidemic prevention demand. During the 
epidemic prevention and control period, 5G intelligent epidemic prevention robots of our Group were stationed in the 
comprehensive service hall of Xixian New District, Shaanxi Province. In addition to reception and consulting services, 
they also used face recognition, infrared temperature measurement, etc. to investigate personnel to reduce the 
possibility of cross-infection. They became a scientific and technological line of defense for public safety, and has been 
highly recognized by leaders and the masses at all levels; the launched anti-epidemic and disinfection robots of our 
Group, separate humans and machines for disinfection operations through remote visual operation, effectively avoiding 
disinfectant harm to the human body and reducing staff work intensity, improving the efficiency of killing viruses as 
well. During this special period, they have taken posts in Shenzhen Bao’an Traditional Chinese Medicine Hospital, 
Bao’an People’s Hospital and Chengdu Qunguang Plaza; the launched epidemic prevention patrol robots autonomously 
patrol areas where people gather, monitoring the flow of people and their temperature, and these patrol robots use 
face recognition to detect accidents and have functions such as emergency prevention and early warning, guided 
evacuation, external physical or chemical disinfection and sterilization equipment, and can also conduct epidemic 
prevention knowledge publicity. They can not only improve the efficiency of quarantine but also prevent and control the 
transmission of viruses.

As a high-tech enterprise specializing in the research and development, design, production and sales of intelligent 
robots and intelligent systems in multiple application fields, the Group was invited to participate in innovation and 
entrepreneurship exhibitions organized by various local governments and social organizations across the country in 
2020, such as Innovation and Entrepreneurship Achievement Exhibition in Shaanxi Province, China Weapon Factory 
Laboratory Drill, Science and Technology Activity Week organized by the People’s Government of Chongqing, etc., and 
displayed independently developed patrol robots, EOD robots, service robots, etc. during the exhibition. The products 
cover multiple industry application areas and are widely used in exhibition halls, government affairs, public services, 
smart communities, special operations and other fields. With smart robots and rich smart application solutions to 
empower and serve users, the in-depth value of artificial intelligence is discovered in the meanwhile, and is highly 
concerned and widely favored by all sectors of society. In December 2020, Anzer was again honored as a high-tech 
enterprise.

At last, I would like to thank our board of Directors (the ‘Board’), management and staff for their contribution to 
the Group. I would also like to extend my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, business partners, customers and 
suppliers for their continuous supports.

Su Zhituan
Executive Director and Chairman

31 March 2021, Hong Kong
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CHANGE OF THE COMPANY’S NAME

Pursuant to a special resolution was passed by the shareholder at the AGM held on 2 June 2020, the English name of 
the Company is changed from “SuperRobotics Limited” to “SuperRobotics Holdings Limited”, and the Chinese name of 
the Company is changed from “超人智能有限公司 ” to “超人智能控股有限公司 ” with effect from 5 June 2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the sale of beauty products and provision of therapy services, as well as the 
provision of engineering products and related services. For the sale of beauty products, the Group offers a variety of 
beauty products and a variety of medical skincare products. For the provision of therapy services, the Group operates 
a medical skincare centre at Soundwill Plaza in Causeway Bay.

For the engineering products, the Group mainly offers robotic products. For the provision of engineering related 
services, the Group provides equipment installation, support and maintenance services for robotics and automation 
systems.

Due to the increased competition and once-in-a-century COVID-19 epidemic, the performance of the Beauty Business 
as a whole faced with unprecedented challenges. The revenue derived from the sale of beauty products and the 
provision of therapy services rendered has reduced by 48.1% to approximately HK$1.3 million and reduced by 38.1% 
to approximately HK$31.0 million respectively for the year ended 31 December 2020. The gross profit generated from 
the Beauty Business was reduced by approximately 53.3% to approximately HK$11.3 million for the year under review.

For the Engineering Business, during the financial year of 2020, the Group continued to develop and improve its 
robotic products. The Group has also driving the commercialization of its products at steady pace through domestic 
platforms, upon which large-scale of civil application can be expected. For the period under review, the revenue of the 
Engineering Business has decreased by 36.2% and contributed a total revenue of approximately HK$22.8 million to the 
total turnover of the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year under review, the Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$55.0 million (for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2019: approximately HK$88.2 million), of which approximately HK$1.3 million (for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2019: approximately HK$2.5 million), HK$30.9 million (for the financial year ended 31 
December 2019: approximately HK$50.0 million) and HK$22.8 million (for the financial year ended 31 December 2019: 
HK$35.7 million) were generated from the sale of beauty products, provision of therapy services and the Engineering 
Business respectively.

The Beauty Business in aggregate contributed approximately HK$32.2 million to the turnover of the Group, representing 
approximately 58.5% of the turnover, of which approximately HK$1.3 million and HK$30.9 million were generated from 
the sale of beauty products and provision of therapy services respectively. The Engineering Business contributed 
approximately HK$22.8 million to the turnover of the Group, representing approximately 41.5% of the turnover.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the gross loss was approximately HK$3.7 million and the gross loss margin 
was approximately 6.6% (for the financial year ended 31 December 2019: gross profit margin of 25.7%). The Beauty 
Business in aggregate contributed approximately HK$11.3 million gross profit to the Group, while the Engineering 
Business recorded a gross loss of approximately HK$15.0 million. The decrease in gross profit margin is due to 
decrease in revenue generated by both Beauty and Engineering Business.
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During the year under review, other income was approximately HK$5.0 million (for the financial year ended 31 
December 2019: approximately HK$3.4 million). The other income was mainly attributable to interest income on bank 
deposits of approximately HK$0.1 million and sundry income of approximately HK$4.9 million, which mainly consists of 
government grants received during the year.

The other losses (net) for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 mainly consists of impairment loss of goodwill 
of approximately HK$21.0 million (for the financial year ended 31 December 2019: approximately HK$57.1 million), 
impairment loss of property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$6.2 million (for the financial year ended 31 
December 2019: NIL), impairment loss on right-of-use assets of approximately HK$7.9 million (for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2019: NIL), and gain on liquidation of a subsidiary of approximately HK$8.3 million (for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2019: NIL). The impairment loss on the goodwill, property, plant and equipment 
and right-of-use assets mainly relates to the provision of engineering products and related services CGU (the Robotics 
CGU). For the purpose of impairment assessment, the recoverable amount of Robotics CGU is determined based 
on a value-in-use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the directors 
of the Company covering a five-year period. The financial budgets are prepared based on a five-year business plan 
considering the past performance, achievement of business targets, stability of core business development and 
sustainability of business growth. The financial budgets have also taken into consideration the developments of the 
Robotics CGU’s business, including changes in the product mix, refinement of the targeted customer segments as 
well as the resulting changes to expected costs and margins. It has also taken into consideration of the result of scale 
down of the business and relocation of research and development function during the year ended 31 December 2020 
in respond to cost saving initiatives partially a result from the adverse impact brought by COVID-19. The directors 
assessed the recoverable amount of the Robotics CGU with reference to the valuations performed by a professional 
valuer. The impairment is mainly a result of the difficult market environment which was further accelerated by the 
adverse effect brought by COVID-19 leading to the scale down of the operations during the year and the relocation of 
the CGU’s research centre from Canada to Mainland China which affected the CGU’s growth momentum.

The selling and distribution costs for the year ended 31 December 2020 was approximately HK$12.2 million (for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2019: approximately HK$15.9 million). The selling and distribution costs 
of the Beauty Business and the Engineering Business accounted for approximately 31.1% or HK$3.8 million and 
approximately 68.9% or HK$8.4 million of the total selling and distribution costs, respectively. The decrease in selling 
and distribution costs was mainly due to a decrease in sales commission expenses incurred by Beauty Business 
amounting to approximately HK$1.0 million and decrease in selling and distribution expenses incurred by Engineering 
Business amounting to approximately HK$2.2 million.

The administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2020 was approximately HK$85.5 million (for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2019: approximately HK$114.0 million). The administrative expenses mainly consist 
of depreciation expense of HK$11.0 million (for the financial year ended 31 December 2019: approximately HK$11.4 
million), employee related expense of approximately HK$40.1 million (for the financial year ended 31 December 2019: 
approximately HK$43.5 million), research and development expense of approximately HK$3.0 million (for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2019: approximately HK$25.4 million), director’s remuneration of approximately HK$11.6 million 
(for the financial year ended 31 December 2019: approximately HK$14.6 million) and other administrative expense of 
approximately HK$19.8 million (for the financial year ended 31 December 2019: approximately HK$19.2 million).

The finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2020 of approximately HK$12.2 million (for the financial year ended 
31 December 2019: approximately HK$4.3 million) was mainly attributable to interest on long-term loans.

The consolidated loss amounted to approximately HK$131.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 (for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2019: approximately HK$164.3 million), of which a loss of approximately HK$1.4 
million (for the financial year ended 31 December 2019: HK$6.6 million), a loss of HK$89.2 million (for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2019: HK$82.8 million) and a loss of HK$41.3 million (for the financial year ended 31 
December 2019: HK$88.1 million) were incurred and generated by the Beauty Business, the Engineering Business and 
general corporate activities, respectively.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total secured borrowing of approximately HK$134.8 million, which was 
secured over 50.5% (as at 31 December 2019: 99%) shares of a subsidiary indirectly held by the Company and carried 
an effective interest rate of 15.0%. The Group also had unsecured borrowings of approximately HK$21.7 million, which 
carried an effective interest rate of 10.3%.

The total secured and unsecured borrowings of the Group is approximately HK$156.5 mill ion, out of which 
approximately HK$NIL million is matured within one year and approximately HK$112.6 million is matured between one 
and two years and approximately HK$43.9 million is matured between two and five years.

Approximately HK$21.7 million of the borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and approximately HK$134.8 
million of the borrowings are denominated in Renminbi.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$141.2 million (31 December 2019: 
approximately HK$206.3 million), including cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$58.0 million (31 December 
2019: approximately HK$32.7 million).

On 29 April 2020, 深圳市帝光實業有限公司 (Shenzhen Shi Diguang Industrial Company Limited#) (“Shenzhen 
Diguang”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and principally engaged in the development and 
manufacturing of robotics products, and 惠州市金達勝投資有限公司 (Huizhou Shi Jindasheng Investment Company 
Limited#) (“Huizhou Jindasheng”) entered into the debt capitalisation agreement in relation to (i) the increase in 
the registered capital of Shenzhen Diguang from RMB500,000 to RMB980,000 (the “Capital Increase”); and (ii) the 
capitalisation of part of the principal amount of the debt owed by Shenzhen Diguang to Huizhou Jindasheng in the sum 
of RMB4,900,000 into the equity interest in the registered capital in the amount of RMB480,000 in Shenzhen Diguang 
(representing approximately 48.98% of the equity interest in Shenzhen Diguang upon completion of the Capital 
Increase).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2020, the total issued share capital of the Company was HK$50,621,967 (31 December 2019: 
HK$50,621,967) divided into 506,219,666 (31 December 2019: 506,219,666) ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM ISSUANCE OF ORDINARY SHARES

Net proceeds from the subscription of 21,000,000 new Shares of the Company which was completed on 4 August 2017 
were HK$130.0 million. The use of proceeds is as follows:

Intended use
Net

proceeds

Utilisation
up to 31

December
2017

Utilisation
up to 31

December
2018

Utilisation
up to 31

December
2019

Utilisation
up to 31

December
2020

Remaining
balance

’million ’million ’million ’million ’million ’million

Construction of production  
plants 50.0 16.8 27.9 35.6 38.3 11.7

(Note)
General working capital 80.0 40.1 80.0 80.0 80.0 —       

130.0 56.9 107.9 115.6 118.3 11.7       

Note: The remaining balance is expected to be utilized within the year ending 31 December 2022 instead of the year ended 31 
December 2020 as initially planned. The change in utilization period is due to uncertainty faced by the Group arising from 
the outbreak of the COVID-19 virus and fluctuation of economy in the PRC and the world. As a result, the Group intends to 
maintain current production capacity and only expand our production capacity when the Group’s assessment on the impact 
from the outbreak of the COVID-19 virus becomes clearer.
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GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio, expressed as percentage of total borrowings to (deficits)/equity attributable to owners of the 
Company, was approximately 636% (31 December 2019: approximately 274%). The increase in gearing ratio is due to 
increase in other borrowings.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s restricted bank deposits of approximately HK$19.0 million (as at 31 December 
2019: approximately HK$19.0 million) were deposits held at a bank in respect of credit card and instalment sales 
arrangement for the sale of beauty products and provision of therapy services business.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group has not used any foreign currency derivative instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risk. 
However, the management monitors closely the exposures and will consider hedging the exposures when in need.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 134 employees (as at 31 December 2019: 228 employees). Total staff costs 
including directors’ emolument for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to approximately HK$65.1 million (for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2019: approximately HK$74.6 million). Their remuneration, promotion and salary 
review are assessed based on job responsibilities, work performance, professional experiences and the prevailing 
industry practices. The employees in Hong Kong joined the mandatory provident fund scheme, the employees in 
the PRC joined the national statutory social security insurance scheme and the employees in Canada joined the 
government-mandated retirement plan.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group did not make any significant investment during the year ended 31 December 2020.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND 
AFFILIATED COMPANIES

The Group did not make any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or affiliated companies during 
the year ended 31 December 2020.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group does not have any concrete plan for material investments or capital assets for the coming year.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENT

There is no significant event after the reporting date.

INDUSTRY OUTLOOK

Affected by the COVID-19 epidemic, the development of various industries around the world has slowed down. Major 
countries in the world have adopted various measures to stimulate economic development and hedge the impact 
of the epidemic. The epidemic in the year of 2020 has also brought great impact on the Chinese economy, while 
new infrastructure investment has become a hot spot to reboot the market. The Standing Committee of the Political 
Bureau of the CPC Central Committee held a meeting and pointed out the necessity to speed up the construction 
of new infrastructure such as 5G networks and artificial intelligence. Therefore, artificial intelligence has become 
the main battlefield for consumer investment among the seven major areas of new infrastructure. The spread of the 
epidemic has also caused uncertainties in all links of the global industrial chain. Under the background of the steady 
economic recovery, the development of infrastructure for emerging artificial intelligence industries is in line with the 
direction of economic transformation and has become one of the main drivers for new infrastructure. The emerging 
artificial intelligence industry can not only accelerate construction and development, but also make the industry 
show its “counter-cyclical” attributes. From the action plan of National Internet Plus to the “Thirteenth Five-Year 
Plan” related plans, artificial intelligence is clearly regarded as a strategic emerging industry, to which key support 
is given. It is planned to arrange an estimated budget of 560 million yuan as state allocation. By 2023, it is planned 
to complete key general technologies and key field technologies, initially establish an artificial intelligence standard 
system, and take the lead in key industries like manufacturing, transportation, finance, security, furniture, elderly 
care, environmental protection, education, health care, justice and so on. According to the forecast report released by 
the National Research Institute, in 2018, China’s intelligent robot market reached 53.59 billion yuan, a year-on-year 
increase of 14.4%, and in 2019, the number reached 58.87 billion yuan, a year-on-year increase of 9.8%. By 2021, the 
scale of China’s robot market is expected to reach 81.3 billion yuan, with an average annual compound growth rate of 
15.8% in the next five years (2021-2025), and it is expected to reach 146.3 billion yuan in 2025.

Benefiting from the rapid development of information technology and artificial intelligence, as well as favorable 
policies at the national level, the market scale of service robots in China will also expand rapidly. With the further 
implementation of artificial intelligence in the fields of finance, retail, manufacturing, education, agriculture, tourism, 
etc., the integration of different technologies will provide more possibilities for the implementation of artificial 
intelligence technology, and will also create greater market for intelligent robots. The Group expects that the 
advancement of robotics and its applications will speed up the process of commercial implementation. The AI intelligent 
service robots of our Group will have a broad market and are expected to continue to expand in scale. Digital twin 
technology and solutions have greatly improved the efficiency of the service industry, and industry applications have 
gradually deepened. The group’s epidemic prevention service robots, disinfection and cleaning robots and other 
epidemic-specific intelligent robots will also continue to be optimized, escorting users in the long-term epidemic 
prevention and control battle.

In order to cope with our country’s increasing labor costs and the aging population, smarter and more efficient 
artificial intelligence has received strong support from the government. Artificial intelligence has been involved in 
the government report for three consecutive years. The government report proposes to deepen the development and 
application of big data, artificial intelligence and other research and development to expand “intelligence plus”and to 
empower the transformation and upgrading of manufacturing. With the arrival of the first year of 5G commercial use, 
5G technology empowers the industrial field and promotes the new development of intelligent manufacturing. The deep 
integration of artificial intelligence technology and manufacturing has become an inevitable trend. The compound annual 
growth rate of artificial intelligence technology in the manufacturing industry during the forecast period from 2019 to 
2027 can reach 39.7%, and it is expected to reach 27 billion US dollars by 2027. With the accelerated implementation 
of 5G network construction, the intelligent, dynamic and fully automated manufacturing process will be realized in the 
near future. The Group’s strategic development idea and prospects are also clearer.
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With the help of multiple factors, the scale of the artificial intelligence market continues to expand. Thanks to the 
maturity of technologies such as smart voice, smart sensing, and machine vision, as well as the integration and 
development of technologies such as AR, cloud computing, and 5G, artificial intelligence is widely used in all walks 
of life by means of robotics to provide new kinetic energy for industry development. In order to promote the rapid 
development of the robotics industry, the State Council has issued a series of policies to implement mass production 
and application of next-generation robotics, intelligent robot learning and cognition, intelligent home service robots, and 
intelligent public service robots. The Group will also continue to integrate new technologies to improve the diversity of 
its robot products, the convenience of use and the wide range of applications, to realize the autonomy, adaptability and 
intelligence of robots, and to enter a broader consumer market.

Given that the widespread public health crisis has directly harmed the economic activities of the Hong Kong, especially 
the consumer-oriented and tourism-related industries, which have been hit hard, the directors expect that the beauty 
business of the Group may continue to experience challenges.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Su Zhituan (“Mr. Su”), aged 50, has been appointed as the chairman of the Company, and executive Director, the 
compliance officer and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee since 1 June 
2018. He holds an Executive Master of Business Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business, the 
People’s Republic of China and a Doctor of Business Administration from the program offered by the University of 
Minnesota in partnership with Tsing Hua University. Mr. Su has extensive experience in business development and 
management. Mr. Su is the founder, chairman and president of Taidong Group Company Limited*（太東集團）(“Taidong 
Group”), which principally operates business in the real estate, construction materials, natural resources, finance, 
investment and emerging technology sectors. He is also the chairman of each of TCL & Taidong Petrochemical 
Investment Company Limited*（TCL太東石化投資有限公司）and Taidong & Country Garden Investment Company 
Limited*（太東碧桂園投資有限公司）and a director of Huizhou Rural Commercial Bank Company Limited*（惠州農村商業
銀行股份有限公司）. Mr. Su was elected as the representative of the Twelfth Guangdong Province People’s Congress of 
China and one of the awardees of the Seventh Top Ten Outstanding Youths in Guangdong Province（第七屆廣東省十大
傑出青年）. He is also the honorary chairman of Guangdong Charity Federation*（廣東省慈善總會）.

Mr. Sun Ziqiang (“Mr. Sun”), aged 56, has been appointed as the vice-chairman of the Company and executive 
Director since 20 August 2018. He obtained a Bachelor of Computer Applied Technology from Wuhan University of 
Technology and a Master of Business Administration from 中歐國際工商管理學院 (China Europe International Business 
School) in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). Mr. Sun has more than 33 years of experience in corporate 
management, investment and risk management. He is currently an executive director and the vice-chairman of 
FDG Kinetic Limited (Stock Code: 378) from 11 March 2016 to November 2018. He has been holding an important 
position in SK Group from 2006 to 2017 and has been the president, Greater China region of SK Group to manage 
the business in the PRC. Mr. Sun was the president of 長城寬帶網絡服務公司 (Changcheng Kundai Internet Services 
Company Limited*), a subsidiary of 長城集團 (Great Wall Group*), a state-owned company from 2002 to 2006. Mr. Sun 
was the vice president of Great Wall Technology Company Limited, the shares of which were previously listed on The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) from 2003 to 2014. He was the vice president of 諾定
（中國）投資有限公司 (Nuo Ding (China) Investment Company Limited*) from 2000 to 2002. Prior to that, Mr. Sun worked 
at 中華人民共和國體育運動委員會 (Sports Committee of the PRC*) from 1985 to 1993.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Fan Yu (“Mr. Fan”), aged 36, has been appointed as non-executive Director since 15 September 2020. He obtained 
a Bachelor of Management Studies from the University of Waikato, New Zealand in April 2007. He was accredited 
as a chartered financial analyst by CFA Institute in September 2013. He has extensive experience in finance and 
investment. Mr. Fan worked at First NZ Capital Management Limited in New Zealand from June 2008 to December 
2012 with his last position as senior securities settlements officer, responsible for providing trading services to clients 
in the area of foreign exchange and financial derivatives and managing projects of developing new financial products. 
He then worked at SK (China) Enterprise Management Limited* （愛思開（中國）企業管理有限公司） from June 2013 to 
May 2017 with his last position as senior investment manager, being involved in various fund investment and business 
mergers and acquisitions in China. Since June 2017, Mr. Fan has been the general manager of Shenzhen Yijia Capital 
Management Company Limited* （深圳億嘉資本管理有限公司） which is part of the group of Taidong Group Company 
Limited* （太東集團有限公司）, responsible for the management and operation of equity and mergers and acquisitions 
investment funds.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus (“Mr. Chu”), aged 56, joined the Company as an independent non-executive Director 
on 5 March 2012. He is also the chairman of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee. Mr. Chu has over 25 years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial management for 
both private and listed corporations. He graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Master Degree in Business 
Administration. Mr. Chu is a fellow practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (FCPA 
(Practising)) and fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (FCCA). He is also an associate 
member of both the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators (ACIS) and the Hong Kong Institute of 
Chartered Secretaries (ACS). Mr. Chu has been an executive director of Chinese People Holdings Company Limited 
(stock code: 681), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 1 December 2008 and appointed 
as the deputy chairman with effect from 23 March 2015. He has been appointed as an independent non-executive 
director of National Agricultural Holdings Limited (stock code: 1236), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange for the period from 25 June 2015 to 11 September 2015. Mr. Chu has also has appointed as non-executive 
director of Perfect Group International Holdings Limited (stock code: 3326), a company listed on the Main Board of 
the Stock Exchange from 19 August 2015 to 1 March 2017. And, has appointed as non-executive director of Flyke 
International Holdings Ltd. (Stock code 1998) a company listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange for the period 16 
March 2010 to 31 December 2020.

He has also been an independent non-executive director of each of Tianli Holdings Group, Limited (stock code: 117), 
Huayu Expressway Group Limited (stock code: 1823), China First Capital Group Limited (stock code: 1269), Mingfa 
Group (International) Company Limited (stock code: 846) and ITC Corporation Limited (stock code: 372), all of which 
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 16 April 2007, 21 May 2009, 24 February 2010, 19 October 
2011, 1 November 2016 and 8 March 2017, respectively. He also served as an independent non-executive director 
of Telecom Service One Holdings Limited (stock code: 8145), a company listed on the GEM of Stock Exchange from 
30 April 2013 to 27 December 2017 and has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of Madison 
Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 8057), a company listed on the GEM, since 21 September 2015 respectively. He 
was appointed as independent non-executive director of Tianli Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 117) with effect 
from 30 March 2017 and as independent non-executive director of China Hui Shan Dairy Holdings Company Limited 
(stock code: 6863) for the period from 22 June 2017 to 27 September 2017.

Mr. Tam B Ray, Billy (“Mr. Tam”), aged 52, joined the Company as an independent non-executive Director on 5 March 
2012. He is also a member of each of the audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) and the Nomination 
Committee. Mr. Tam has been a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong for over 26 years. He holds an EMBA from the 
Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of London, a Bachelor degree in 
laws of the People’s Republic of China from Tsinghua University and a Master of Laws degree from the University of 
Hong Kong. Mr. Tam is a partner of Messr. Ho & Tam. He has been an independent non-executive directors of China 
Fortune Financial Group Limited (stock code: 290), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from 
4 December 2007 to 21 December 2016. He has also been an independent non-executive director of Silk Road Energy 
Services Group Limited (stock code: 8250), a company listed on GEM, from 10 November 2011 to 18 June 2014. 
Mr. Tam has also been a non-executive director of Larry Jewelry International Company Limited (stock code: 8351), 
a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, from 16 December 2010 to 19 September 2014 and Milan Station 
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1150), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 28 April 2011 
to 3 March 2017.
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Dr. Wang Dangxiao (“Dr. Wang”), aged 45, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director and a 
member of each the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee since 21 May 2019. He obtained a doctoral 
degree from Beihang University in 2004. He was appointed as an associate professor in 2007 at Beihang University 
and promoted to be a professor subsequently. He is also a doctoral adviser, the deputy director of the State Key 
Laboratory of Virtual Reality Technology and System and the director of the Robotics Research Laboratory at Beihang 
University. He is the General Chair of AsiaHaptics 2020, a senior member of The Institute of Electrical and Electronics 
Engineers (“IEEE”), a senior member of The China Computer Federation, a senior member of the Chinese Mechanical 
Engineering Society and a standing committee member of the Special Committee on Human-Machine Interaction of 
The China Computer Federation. He has also been the chairman of the Haptics Technology Committee of IEEE and 
the associate editor of IEEE Transactions on Haptics.
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The Directors are pleased to present this annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 35 
to the consolidated financial statements. The principal activities of the Group consist of the sale of beauty products, 
provision of therapy services and the provision of engineering products and related service business. There were no 
significant changes in the nature of business of the Group during the year under review.

A fair review of business of the Group during the year under review, discussion on the key financial performance 
indicators of the Group, particulars of important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the 
period under review and future development of the Group are provided in the section headed “Management Discussion 
and Analysis” from page 6 to page 11 of this annual report.

Description of the environmental policies and performance, compliance with the applicable laws and regulations which 
have a significant impact on the Group, relationships with stakeholders and principal risks and uncertainties facing the 
Group can be found in the paragraphs below.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to creating a successful business that is not achieved at the expense of the environment. The 
Group is dedicated to creating an environmentally friendly and sustainable operation. The Directors are not expecting 
that the business of the Group will have a significant impact on the environment due to the nature of its principal 
businesses. Details on Group’s environmental policies are set out in the section headed “Environmental. Social and 
Governance Report” from page 39 to page 50 of this annual report.

Compliance with the Applicable Laws and Regulations which have a Significant Impact on the Group

The Company and its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong, the PRC and Canada are subject to requirements under 
various laws and regulations. For subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong, applicable laws and regulations include, 
among others, the Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Cap. 362 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Personal Data (Privacy) 
Ordinance (Cap. 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Competition Ordinance (Cap. 619 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the 
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and the applicable regulations, guidelines, policies and 
licence terms issued or promulgated under or in connection with these statutes. In addition, the Group is also subject 
to the provisions of the GEM Listing Rules. For subsidiaries operating in the PRC, applicable laws and regulations 
include, among others, Administrative Measures on Foreign Investments in Commercial Sector（外商投資商業領域管理辦
法）, Law on Environmental Impact Assessment of the PRC（中華人民共和國環境影響評價法）, Administrative Measures 
on Pollutants Discharge Permits（廣東省排污許可證管理辦法）, Law on Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprises of the PRC 
（中華人民共和國外資企業法）, Administrative Regulations on Company Registration of the PRC（中華人民共和國公司登記
管理條例）, Regulations on Certification of Qualification of Civil Aviation Products and Parts（民用航空產品和零部件合格
審定規定）and Regulations on Certification of Qualification of Civil Aircrafts Repair Entities（民用航空器維修單位合格審
定規定）. For the subsidiary operating in Canada, applicable laws and regulations include, among others, the Canada 
Business Corporation Act, Patent Act, Industrial Design Act, and Canada Labour Code. The Group seeks to ensure 
compliance with these requirements through various measures such as internal controls and approval procedures, 
trainings and oversight of various business units with the designated resources at different levels.

Relationships with Stakeholders

The Group is committed to operating in a sustainable manner while balancing the interests of its various stakeholders 
including its employees, customers, suppliers, business partners and the community.
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The Group considers its employees as key to sustainable business growth. The Group is committed to providing all 
employees a safe and harassment-free working environment with equal opportunities in relation to employment, reward 
management, training and career development.

As a customer-focused service provider, the Group considers its customers as one of the most important stakeholders. 
The Group is committed to serving its customers to the best of its ability and continually elevating the level of service 
excellence.

The Group is committed to upholding the highest ethical and professional standards when dealing with suppliers. 
The Group has established suppliers monitoring and screening process and conducted suppliers’ performance review 
regularly. Unsatisfactory rating for rectification or improvements will be communicated to its suppliers.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The risk management process is integrated into our day-to-day activities and is an ongoing process that flows through 
the Group.

When performing risk identification, the Group takes into account internal and external factors including economic, 
political, social, technological, environmental and new or updated Group strategy and new regulations, as well as 
our stakeholders’ expectation in these aspects. Each risk identified is analysed on the basis of likelihood and impact 
consistent with risk parameters set by the Board. Action plans are in place to manage risks. Fundamental to the 
achievement of our business goal is how the Group can effectively manage existing and emerging risks in economic, 
social and political environment. A description of the Group’s risk factors is shown as below.

Risk factors

Risks and uncertainties can affect the Group’s business, financial condition, operation results or growth prospects 
leading to a divergence from expected or historical result. Key risk factors affecting the Group are outlined below. In 
dealing with these, the Group remains in touch with stakeholders with the aim of understanding and addressing their 
concerns.

These factors are not exhaustive or comprehensive, and there may be other risks in addition to those shown below 
which are not known to the Group or which may not be material now but could become material in the future.

Macroeconomic Conditions of the World and the PRC

Since early 2020, the epidemic of Coronavirus Disease 2019 has spread worldwide, and it has caused disruption to 
many businesses and economic activities. Global economic growth has been weaker than expected with sluggish 
demand conditions in the major economies. Uncertainty in world economic recovery continued due to economic 
pressures and geopolitical tensions in various areas of the world, slow growth in emerging markets including mainland 
China.

The Group’s target customers of the Engineering Business comprise companies and government agencies operating in 
the PRC. Any unexpected economic, political and social events or changes in the PRC may have a significant impact 
on the Engineering Business.

The Group has taken a proactive approach to monitoring changes in macroeconomics factors of Global and China. To 
address macroeconomics volatility, the Group’s strategy is to pursue diversification of product lines and expansion in 
different geographic areas.
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The Engineering Business may not be able to keep up with technological changes

The engineering industry is moving and customers’ preferences change quickly. The introduction of new technology 
in this industry may render the Group’s services to be obsolete and uncompetitive. Accordingly, the Group’s future 
success will depend on its ability to adapt to changing technologies and continually improving the know-how of its staff 
in response to evolving demands of the market place. Failing to adapt to such changes may result in the Engineering 
Business losing its customers, which would have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Group.

The management has been monitoring the latest development in technologies relating to engineering industry. 
Research and development will be done internally through the Group’s own talents or outsourced to qualified third 
party. When see fit, the Group may also acquire companies with technologies that meet the requirement of business 
strategy of the Group.

Compliance with the PRC laws and regulations

As set out in the paragraph headed “Compliance with the Applicable Laws and Regulations which have a Significant 
Impact on the Group” above, the operation of the Engineering Business is subject to compliance with various rules and 
regulations in the PRC. In order to expand into the production of robotics products in the PRC, the Group must obtain 
certain required qualifications. The Group may not be able to obtain or renew such qualifications and may therefore be 
unable to expand into the production of robotics products.

The Group has taken a proactive approach to monitoring any change in applicable laws and regulation. The compliance 
is done through a variety of means including engaging external advisors, performing regulator audits and complying 
regulatory reporting obligations.

Product liability

The products provided by the Group may contain defects or errors. The Group may incur costs in correcting the defects 
or errors or defending any legal proceedings and claims brought by its customers. Defects or errors that may be 
contained in the Group’s products may also affect the Group’s relationship with such customers and result in negative 
publicity, hence adversely affecting the Group’s reputation. The Group does not currently maintain any product liability 
insurance but may consider doing so in future. There is no assurance that there will not be any product liability claims 
against the Group for the loss or damage caused by defective products. If any of the Group’s customers make any 
claim against the Group which is in excess of any insurance coverage of the Group or otherwise falls outside such 
coverage, the Group will need to bear the costs of settling such claims, and may result in the Group’s business and 
financial condition being adversely affected.

To prevent product liability claims, the Group only deals with qualified and reputable raw material suppliers. The 
management also conducts regular product safety review should confirm that products comply with the latest industry 
and government safety standards.

Competition

The Group operates in markets and industries where the regulation is drive to open competition has led to increased 
competition, pricing pressure, loss of market share, and increased promotional, marketing and customer acquisition 
expenditures.

The Group has been consistently monitoring its competitors, markets and industries and adjusting this business 
strategy to adopt the changing market place.
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Client complaints, claims and legal proceedings in the course of the Group’s operations

Given the nature of the beauty industry and subjective views on the level of satisfaction of beauty services provided 
and products, on occasions, the Group is susceptible to complaints associated with its products or services. Common 
client complaints include (i) unsatisfactory results of the Group’s services and products; (ii) physical injury caused by 
the Group’s services; (iii) disputes over payment method (e.g. credit card instalment); (iv) unsatisfactory staff services; 
(v) unsatisfactory treatment progress; (vi) client’s change of mind; and (vii) subsequent argument on the terms of 
contracts.

Customer complaints are handled in a timely manner by trained customer service team of the Group. In case of legal 
proceedings being file against the Group, the Group will engage or consult qualified professionals to minimize the 
impact.

RESULTS AND PROFIT DISTRIBUTION

Details of the Group’s results for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income on page 59 of this annual report.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2019: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years/periods 
ended 31 December 2016, 31 December 2017, 31 December 2018, 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020 are 
set out on page 125 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial 
statements of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year under review are set out 
in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the year under review are set out in Note 23 to 
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year under review are set out in 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 62 and Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements, 
respectively, in this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

The Company did not have any reserves available for distribution to the shareholders of the Company as at 31 
December 2020 (as at 31 December 2019: Nil).
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group has made charitable donations of approximately HK$Nil during the financial year ended 31 December 2020 
(for the financial year ended 31 December 2019: HK$Nil).

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year under review and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Su Zhituan
Mr. Sun Ziqiang
Mr. Fu Hengke (retired on 2 June 2020)
Ms. Wu Ying (appointed on 15 September 2020 and resigned on 17 December 2020)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Yu (resigned on 15 September 2020)
Mr. Fan Yu (appointed on 15 September 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Tam B Ray, Billy
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus
Dr. Wang Dangxiao

Pursuant to bye-law 83(2) and 84(1) of the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”), Mr. Su Zhituan, Mr. Sun Ziqiang, 
and Mr. Fan Yu shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “2021 AGM”), and, 
being eligible, Mr. Su Zhituan, Mr. Sun Ziqiang and Mr. Fan Yu will offer themselves for re-election at the 2021 AGM. 
Mr. Fu will not offer himself for re-election at the AGM.

THE BIOGRAPHY OF THE DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors of the Company are set out in the section headed “Directors’ Profile” on pages 
12 to 14 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Fan Yu is appointed for a term of three years and is subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Bye-
laws of the Company.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the 2021 AGM has a letter of appointment or a services 
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the employing company within one 
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of 
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he shall or may incur 
or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of his duty, or supposed 
duty, in their respective offices or trusts such indemnity provision has been in force throughout the year ended 31 
December 2020.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Director’s liabilities in respect of legal action against its 
Directors arising out of corporate activities.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual written confirmations from each of Mr. Tam B Ray, Billy, Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus 
and Dr. Wang Dangxiao, all being the independent non-executive Directors during the year under review, in respect of 
their independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent non- 
executive Directors are independent in accordance with the guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR 
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the 
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of 
Part XV of Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) which were notified to 
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short 
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the 
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to 
Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long and short positions in the ordinary shares and underlying shares of the Company

Interest in Approximate
Name of Interest underlying Total interest percentage of
Director/ in shares shares in shares shareholding
chief executive Nature of interests Notes (Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 1) (Notes 1 and 3)       

Mr. Su Zhituan Interest of controlled 
corporation

2 151,425,197(L) — 151,425,197(L) 29.91%(L)

Notes:

1. “L” represents long position in shares or underlying shares of the Company and “S” represents short position in shares or 
underlying shares of the Company.

2. Tai Dong New Energy Holding Limited (“Tai Dong”) is ultimately wholly-owned by Mr. Su Zhituan and holds long positions 
in 151,425,197 shares of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Su Zhituan is deemed to be interested in the long positions in 
151,425,197 shares of the Company.

3. The percentage is calculated on the basis of 506,219,666 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2020
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, so far as is known to any Directors or chief executive of the 
Company, none of the Directors and chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in any 
shares, underlying shares and debenture of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of 
Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under 
such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant 
to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year under review was the Company, or any of its 
subsidiaries or associated corporations, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors (including their respective 
spouses and children under the age of 18) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of the shares or underlying 
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any of its associated corporations, and none of the Directors or their 
respective spouses or children under the age of 18 had any right to subscribe for shares of the Company or any of its 
associated corporations or had exercised any such right during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no Director nor any connected entity of a Director had a material interest, 
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the Group 
to which a controlling shareholder of the Company, or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a 
party at any time during the year under review.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business in which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or 
fellow subsidiaries or a controlling shareholder of the Company was a party, and in which a Director had a material 
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year under review or at any time during the year 
under review.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the Board on the basis of their job responsibilities, 
work performance, professional experience and prevailing industry practices.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board with reference to the recommendations from the 
Remuneration Committee, with regard to the Company’s operation results, individual performance and comparable 
market statistics.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme (as defined below) as an incentive to Directors and eligible 
participants. Please refer to the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” on page 23 of this annual report for details.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in Note 11 
and Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively, in this annual report.
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COMPETING INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors, substantial shareholders of the Company nor any of their respective 
close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which causes or may cause 
significant competition with the business of the Group.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES 
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2020, so far as is known to the Directors and the chief executives of the Company, the interests 
and shorts positions of the persons or corporations (other than the Directors and the chief executive of the Company) 
in the shares and underlying shares as recorded in the register to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of 
the SFO were as follows:

Interests and short positions in the ordinary shares or underlying ordinary shares of the Company

Name of shareholder Nature of interests

Interest in
shares of

the Company

Interest in
underlying

shares of
the Company

Total
interest in

shares of the
Company

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Notes (Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 1) (Notes 1 and 7)       

Tai Dong Beneficial owner 2 151,425,197(L) — 151,425,197(L) 29.91%(L)
Hong Kong Bridge Investments Limited 

(“Hong Kong Bridge Investments”)
Inerest of controlled corporation 3 41,666,666(L) — 41,666,666(L) 8.23%(L)

HKBridge Absolute Return Fund, L.P 
(“HKBridge Absolute”)

Beneficial owner 4 64,148,063(L) — 64,148,063(L) 12.67%(L)

On Top Global Limited 
(“On Top Global”)

Beneficial owner 5 24,397,946(L) — 24,397,946(L) 4.82%(L)

Renco Holdings Group Limited 
(“Renco Holdings”)

Interest of controlled corporation 3,4,5 130,212,675(L) — 130,212,675(L) 25.72%(L)

KE10MA Holdings Inc. 
(“KE10MA Holdings”)

Beneficial Owner 7 29,286,971(L) — 29,286,971(L) 5.79%(L)

Andrew Avi Goldenberg Interest of controlled corporation 7 29,286,971(L) — 29,286,971(L) 5.79%(L)
Goldenberg Aviva C Interest of controlled corporation 7 29,286,971(L) — 29,286,971(L) 5.79%(L)
Greater Harmony Limited  

(“Greater Harmony”)
Beneficial Owner 8 30,000,000(L) — 30,000,000(L) 5.93%(L)

Ko Chun Shun Johnson Interest of controlled corporation 8 30,000,000(L) — 30,000,000(L) 5.93%(L)

Notes:

1. “L” represents long position in shares or underlying shares of the Company and “S” represents short position in shares or 
underlying shares of the Company.

2. Tai Dong is interested in 151,425,197 shares of the Company. As Tai Dong is ultimately wholly-owned by Mr. Su Zhituan, Mr. 
Su Zhituan is deemed to be interested in such 151,425,197 shares of the Company.

3. Hong Kong Bridge Investments is interested in 41,666,666 shares of the Company. As Hong Kong Bridge Investments is a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Renco Holdings, Renco Holdings is deemed to be interested in such 41,666,666 shares of the 
Company.

4. HKBridge Absolute, a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership, the general partner of which is HKBridge (Cayman) GP2 
Limited, a Cayman Islands limited liability company, is interested in 64,148,063 shares of the Company. As the entire issued 
share capital of the general partner of HKBridge Absolute is indirectly owned by Renco Holdings, Renco Holdings is deemed to 
be interested in such 64,148,063 shares of the Company.
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5. On Top Global is interested in 24,397,946 shares of the Company. As On Top Global is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong 
Kong Bridge High-Tech Investment Fund L.P. (“Hong Kong Bridge High-Tech”), Hong Kong Bridge High-Tech is deemed to 
be interested in such 24,397,946 shares. Hong Kong Bridge High-Tech, a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership, the 
general partner of which is Hong Kong Bridge High-Tech Investment G.P Limited, a Cayman Islands limited liability company. 
As the entire issued share capital of the general partner of the Hong Kong Bridge High-Tech is indirectly owned by Renco 
Holdings, Renco Holdings is deemed to be interest in such 24,397,946 shares of the Company.

6. KE10MA Holdings is interested in 29,286,971 shares of the Company. As KE10MA Holdings is 50%-owned by Dr. Andrew 
Avi Goldenberg and 50%-owned by Mrs. Aviva C Goldenberg and Mrs. Aviva C Goldenberg is the spouse of Dr. Andrew Avi 
Goldenberg, each of Dr. Andrew Avi Goldenberg and Mrs. Aviva C Goldenberg is deemed to be interested in such 29,286,971 
shares of the Company.

7. Greater Harmony is interested in 30,000,000 shares of the Company. As Greater Harmony is ultimately wholly-owned by Mr. 
Ko Chun Shun Johnson. Mr. Ko Chun Shun Johnson is deemed to be interested in such 30,000,000 shares of the Company.

8. The percentage is calculated on the basis of 506,219,666 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, so far as is known to the Directors and the chief executive of 
the Company, and based on the public records filed on the website of the Stock Exchange and records kept by the 
Company, no other persons or corporations (other than the Directors and the chief executive of the Company) had 
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to 
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) at the annual general meeting of the 
Company held on 7 November 2014 (the “2014 AGM”). The scheme mandate limit (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) of 
the share Option Scheme was refreshed at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 8 May 2017 (the “2017 
AGM”).

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to certain Eligible 
Participants (as defined below) as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Company and/or its 
subsidiaries.

2. Participants of the Share Option Scheme and the basis of determining the eligibility of the participants

The Board may, subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme and the GEM 
Listing Rules, in its absolute discretion, invite (i) any employees (including, without limitation, executive 
Directors) of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries; (ii) any non-executive Directors (including, without 
limitation, independent non-executive Directors) of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries; (iii) any 
consultants, suppliers or customers of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries; (iv) any employee (whether 
full-time or part-time and including directors) of any entity in which the Group holds any equity interest; and/or 
(v) any person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group eligible 
for options under the Share Option Scheme (the “Eligible Participant(s)”) to take up options to subscribe for 
Shares at the Subscription Price (as defined below).
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3. Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options 
to be granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of 
the Company must not exceed 30% of the relevant class of shares of the Company in issue from time to time. 
Subject to the limit above, the total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be 
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company adopted by the 
Group must not, in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the Share Option 
Scheme or the date of refreshment of such limit. Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share 
Option Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Share Option Scheme limit.

As approved by the shareholders of the Company at the 2017 AGM, the maximum number of shares of the 
Company in respect of which options may be granted under the refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit is 45,521,966 
shares of the Company which is equivalent to 10% of the issued shares of the Company as at the 2017 AGM. 
As at 31 December 2020, 45,521,966 shares of the Company may be issued upon the exercise of all the Share 
Options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme, representing approximately 8.99% of the issued shares 
of the Company at 31 December 2020 and the date of this annual report.

4. Maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting and according to the manner 
prescribed by the provisions of the Share Option Scheme and the GEM Listing Rules, the total number of shares 
of the Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each Eligible Participant or 
grantee (including exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not 
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue.

Any grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial Shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing 
Rules) of the Company, or any of their respective associates, under the Share Option Scheme must be 
approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding an independent non-executive Director who 
or whose associate is the proposed grantee of the options). Where any grant of options to a substantial 
Shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company or an independent non-executive Director or 
any of their respective associates, would result in the shares issued or to be issued upon exercise of all options 
already granted or to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in 
the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant: (a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the 
shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the shares at the date of each 
grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of options must be approved by the Shareholders in general 
meeting.

5. Offer period and amount payable for options and exercise period

The offer shall remain open for acceptance for 30 days from the date upon which it is made provided that 
no such offer shall be open for acceptance after the earlier of the 10th anniversary of the adoption date 
(i.e. 7 November 2014) (the “Adoption Date”) or the termination of the Share Option Scheme or the Eligible 
Participant to whom such offer is made has ceased to be an Eligible Participant.

An option shall be deemed to have been accepted (subject to certain restrictions in the Share Option Scheme) 
when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the option duly signed by the Eligible Participant together 
with a non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is received by the Company from the grantee within 30 
days from the date of offer.

The exercise period of the Share Option granted is determinable by the directors of the Company, and which 
shall not exceed 10 years after the date on which the Share Options are granted.
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6. Minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised

There is no specified minimum period under the Share Option Scheme for which an option must be held or the 
performance target which must be achieved before an option can be exercised under the terms of the Share 
Option Scheme.

The terms of the Share Option Scheme provide that in granting options under the Share Option Scheme, the 
Board may offer to grant any options subject to such terms and conditions in relation to the minimum period of 
the options to be held and/or the performance criteria to be satisfied before such options can be exercised and/ 
or any other terms as the Board may determine in its absolute discretion.

7. Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price shall be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, provided that it shall be not less 
than the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange (as stated in the 
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet) on the date on which an offer is made to an Eligible Participant, which 
must be a business day (the “Offer Date”), (ii) the average closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange 
(as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets) for the five business days immediately preceding 
the Offer Date, and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

8. Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall continue in force for the period commencing from the Adoption Date and 
expiring at the close of business on the 10th anniversary thereof (i.e. 6 November 2024), after which period no 
further options will be issued but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in force to the extent 
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options granted or exercised prior thereto or otherwise as may 
be required in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme.

Details of movements in the Company’s share options during the twelve months ended 31 December 2020 are 
set out as follows:

Number of share options
Outstanding

as at
1 January

2020
Exercise 

price 

Granted
during the

period

Exercised
during the

period

Cancelled
during the

period

Lapsed
during the

period

Outstanding
as at

31 December
2020

HK$ (Note 1) (Note 2)

Employees 2,614,325 8.90 — — (1,870,850) — 743,475        

Total 2,614,325 — — (1,870,850) — 743,475        

Exercisable at the 
end of the period —        
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Note:

(1) A total of 7,480,000 share options were granted on 3 January 2017, with an exercise price of HK$8.9 and exercise 
period from 3 January 2018 to 2 January 2022, of which (i) 25% of the share options are exercisable form 3 January 
2018 to 2 January 2022; (ii) 25% of the share options are exercisable form 3 January 2019 to 2 January 2022; (iii) 25% 
of the share options are exercisable form 3 January 2020 to 2 January 2022; and (iv) 25% of the share options are 
exercisable form 3 January 2021 to 2 January 2022.

(2) A total of 1,870,850 share options were cancelled on 31 December 2020, with an exercise price of HK$8.9.

(3) The share options granted to the employees of the Group shall be vested in four equal tranches. The vesting periods 
of the share options are between the date of grant and the dates of commencement of exercise periods. The vesting 
periods and exercise periods of the share options are as follows:

Number of options
Outstanding at 
31 December 2020 Vesting period Exercise period

185,868 3 January 2017 to 2 January 2018 3 January 2018 to 2 January 2022
185,869 3 January 2017 to 2 January 2019 3 January 2019 to 2 January 2022
185,869 3 January 2017 to 2 January 2020 3 January 2020 to 2 January 2022
185,869 3 January 2017 to 2 January 2021 3 January 2021 to 2 January 2022 

743,475 

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes of the Group are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer accounted for 
approximately 16% (for financial year ended 31 December 2019: 30.7%) of the Group’s total sales for the year and the 
five largest customers taken together accounted for approximately 25.7% (for financial year ended 31 December 2019: 
34.8%) of the Group’s total sales. The Group does not have any significant transaction with any single customer for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

During the year under review, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest suppliers accounted for 
approximately 8.1% (for financial year ended 31 December 2019: 35.9%) of the Group’s total purchase for the year and 
the five largest suppliers taken together accounted for approximately 20.1% (for the financial year ended 31 December 
2019: 58.5%) of the Group’s total purchase.

Save as disclosed in this annual report and to the best knowledge of Directors, none of the Directors, their associates, 
or any shareholders of the Company (which to the best knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the 
Company’s issued share capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers during the 
financial year ended 31 December 2020.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 28 February 2020 and 23 April 2020, Anzer has entered into two sales and purchase contracts (S&P Contracts) 
with 惠州市太東實業投有限公司 （“Huizhou City Taidong Shiye Co. Ltd” or “Taidong Shiye”), which is indirectly wholly-
owned by Mr. Su Zhituan, the chairman and an executive Director of the Company and a substantial shareholder of 
the Company. Pursuant to the S&P Contracts, Anzer agreed to sell and Taidong Shiye agreed to buy three (3) sets 
and ten (10) sets of service robots with total considerations of approximately RMB0.33 million (inclusive of tax) and 
RMB1.36 million (inclusive of tax) respectively which were payable in cash.

As Mr. Su Zhituan is an executive Director and a substantial shareholder of the Company, Taidong Shiye is 
a connected person of the Company. Hence, the transactions under the S&P Contracts constituted connected 
transactions of the Company. As all the applicable ratios of the transactions under the S&P Contracts in aggregate 
were less than 5% and the total consideration in aggregate was less than HK$3,000,000, the transactions under the 
S&P Contracts were exempted from the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements 
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. In the opinion of the Directors (including the independent non-executive 
Directors), the transactions under the S&P Contracts were carried out in the ordinary and normal course of the Group’s 
business, in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole and conducted at mutually agreed terms.

Details of related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2019 and 31 
December 2020 are disclosed in Note 34 in the consolidated financial statements. Save for the exempted connected 
transactions disclosed above, all other related party transactions do not fall under the definition of “connected 
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, save for the exempted connected transactions disclosed above, the 
Group did not enter into any connected transactions which required reporting, annual review, announcements and/or 
independent shareholders’ approval under the GEM Listing Rules.

Payments of emoluments to the Directors pursuant to their respective service contracts with the Company were exempt 
connected transactions under Rule 20.93 of the GEM Listing Rules while payments of emoluments/consultancy fee to 
senior management do not constitute connected transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year under review, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 
Company’s listed securities.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year under review, other than the letters of appointment of the Directors, no management and administrative 
contracts regarding the entire or any major businesses of the Company have been entered into or have existed.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws and there is no restriction against such rights under 
the law of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders 
of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available and to the best knowledge, information and belief of the Directors, the 
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year ended 
31 December 2020.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event after the report period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out on pages 29 to 38 of this 
annual report.

AUDITOR

The Company has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the Company for the reporting period. A 
resolution will be proposed for approval by shareholders at the 2021 AGM to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers as 
the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Su Zhituan
Executive Director and Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Stock Exchange issued the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM 
Listing Rules which sets out the principles and the code provisions which listed issuers are expected to apply and 
comply.

During the period under review and up to the date of this annual report, the Company has applied the principles as set 
out in the CG Code that are considered to be relevant to the Company and has complied with most of the applicable 
code provisions as set out in the CG Code save for certain deviations, details of which are explained in the relevant 
paragraphs of this corporate governance report.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company are summarised as follows:

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted its own codes of conduct regarding Directors’ and relevant employees’ securities 
transactions, namely “Code for Securities Transactions by Directors” and “Code for Securities Transactions by Relevant 
Employees”, both of which apply to all Directors and relevant employees of the Company in terms no less exacting 
than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Having made specific enquiry with each of the Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with 
such code and the required standard of dealings on Directors’ securities transactions during the year ended 31 
December 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Group’s business, strategic 
decisions and performances and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing 
and supervising its affairs. In practice, the Board takes responsibilities for decisions making in all major matters of the 
Company include approving and monitoring of all policy matters, the setting of objectives, annual budgets and overall 
strategies, material transactions, appointment of directors and other significant financial and operational matters. The 
day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are delegated to the senior management. These 
responsibilities include the implementation of decisions of the Board, the co-ordination and direction of day-to-day 
operation and management of the Company in accordance with the management strategies and plans approved by the 
Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by these senior 
management and the Board has the full support of them to discharge its responsibilities. In addition, the Board has 
also delegated various responsibilities to the Board committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this 
corporate governance report.

Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eight Directors and their respective roles are set out as 
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Su Zhituan (Chairman)
Mr. Sun Ziqiang (Vice-chairman)
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fan Yu

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Tam B Ray, Billy
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus
Dr. Wang Dangxiao

Two of the independent non-executive Directors have appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related 
financial management expertise.

None of the Board members have financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship with each other.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors’ Profile” on pages 12 to 14 of this 
annual report.

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise, and have exhibited high standards of personal 
and professional ethics and integrity. All the Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the Company’s 
affairs. Code provision A.5.6 of the CG Code stipulates that there should be a policy concerning the diversity of Board 
members. With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company has been seeing diversity 
at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable 
development. The Company will consider board diversity from a number of factors when deciding on new appointments 
to the Board and the continuation of those appointments in order to achieve a diversity of perspectives among Board 
members. These factors include but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional 
or industry experience, skills, knowledge and other qualities of Directors. The Board as a whole is responsible for 
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board with due regard to the intended benefits of board diversity. 
The balance between the number of Executive and Non-Executive Directors is considered effective in ensuring 
independent judgment being exercised effectively to provide sufficient checks and balances to safeguard the interests 
of the Company and its shareholders. The Company believes that the current Board composition is well-balanced and 
of a diverse mix appropriate for the business of the Company. The Board will review and monitor the implementation of 
board diversity on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness on determining the optimal composition of the Board.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term, 
subject to re-election. Mr. Fan Yu appointment is for a term of three years which is subject to retirement at the next 
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and thereafter subject to retirement by rotation at least once 
every three years in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company. Currently there is no service contract entered into 
between the Company and all the independent non-executive Directors. Their appointments will be reviewed when they 
are due for re-election, the Board considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s 
corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those set out in the CG Code.

The Company has received annual written confirmations from Mr. Tam B Ray, Billy, Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus and 
Mr. Wang Dangxiao, all being the independent non-executive Directors during the period under review, in respect of 
their independent pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.
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APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

The Board has established the Nomination Committee on 27 March 2012 with details set out in the paragraph headed 
“Nomination Committee” on page 33 of this annual report.

According to the Bye-laws, the Board may from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either 
to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or, subject to authorisation in general meeting, as an addition to the existing 
Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting after 
his appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to 
the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then 
be eligible for re-election.

Board Meetings

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic means of communication at least four times every year 
to determine overall strategic direction and objectives and approve quarterly, interim and annual results, and other 
significant matters. All Directors are given an opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda for discussion. 
During the period under review, at least 14 days’ notice were given to all Directors for a regular board meeting in order 
to comply with the relevant code provision of the CG Code.

Apart from regular meetings, our senior management from time to time provides Directors with information on activities 
and development of the businesses of the Group. The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) 
takes detailed minutes of the meetings and keeps records of matters discussed and decisions resolved at the 
meetings. Individual attendance records of each Director at the respective Board and committee meetings are set out 
in the following section.

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS

Details of the attendance of the Directors at the meetings of the Board and its respective committees during the year 
ended 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Name of Director
Board

Meeting
Audit

Committee
Remuneration

Committee
Nomination
Committee

Annual General
Meeting

Executive Directors
Su Zhituan 10/10 — 2/2 2/2 1/1
Sun Ziqiang 10/10 — — — 1/1
Fu Hengke (appointed on 21 May 2019) 5/5 — — — 0/1
Wu Ying (appointed on 15 September 2020 and 

resigned on 17 December 2020) 1/1 — — — —

Non-executive Directors
Cheng Yu (resigned on 15 September 2020) 7/7 — — — 1/1
Fan Yu (appointed on 15 September 2020) 3/3 — — — —

Independent non-executive Directors
Tam B Ray Billy 10/10 5/5 — 2/2 1/1
Chu Kin Wang, Peleus 10/10 5/5 2/2 2/2 1/1
Wang Dangxiao 10/10 5/5 2/2 — 1/1
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Directors’ Training

Up to the date of this annual report, all Directors have participated in continuous professional development by 
attending training courses on the topics related to corporate governance and regulations to comply with the relevant 
code provision. For those Directors who did not attend a structured course, the Company has arranged the Company 
Secretary to provide in-house training to such Directors and maintained a record of training.

A summary of the training received by the Directors for the period under review according to the records provided by 
the Directors is as follows:

Type of Continuous Professional Development

Name of Directors

Reading on corporate
governance, regulatory

updates development
and other relevant

topics

Attending
relevant training

sessions

Executive Directors
Mr. Su Zhituan ✓ ✗

Mr. Sun Ziqiang ✓ ✗

Mr. Fu Hengke ✓ ✗

Ms. Wu Ying ✓ ✗

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Yu ✓ ✗

Mr. Fan Yu ✓ ✗

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tam B Ray, Billy ✓ ✓

Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus ✓ ✓

Dr. Wang Dangxiao ✓ ✗

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company 
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between 
the chairman and the chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The position of the 
chairman is held by Mr. Su Zhituan. The responsibilities of the chairman of the Company is to ensure the Board to 
work effectively and perform its responsibilities, and all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board, draw 
up and approve the agenda for each board meeting and take into accounts, any matters proposed by others Directors 
for inclusion in the agenda.

As at 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this report, the Company has not appointed a chief executive officer 
and is looking for a suitable candidate to act as chief executive officer in order to comply with the CG Code. The office 
and duties of the chief executive officer in respect of the day-to-day management of the Group’s business is handled 
by the executive Directors collectively.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 5.05 of the GEM listing Rules, the Company must have three independent non-executive Directors; 
one of them has appropriate professional qualification or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received annual written confirmations from Mr. Tam B Ray, Billy, Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus and 
Dr. Wang Dangxiao, all being the independent non-executive Directors during the period under review, in respect of 
their independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

BOARD COMMITTEE

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with the 
GEM Listing Rules. The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include making recommendation to 
the Board on the Group’s policies and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior management, assessing 
performance of executive director, determining specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior 
management, and reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration.

As at 31 December 2020 and up to date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee comprises two independent 
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus (chairman) and Dr. Wang Dangxiao and one executive 
Director, Mr. Su Zhituan.

The Remuneration Committee held two meeting during the year ended 31 December 2020 to determine the policy for 
the remuneration of executive directors, assess performance of executive director and approve the terms of executive 
directors’ service contracts.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with the 
GEM Listing Rules. The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size 
and composition of the Board, identification of individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and making 
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships, assessing the independence 
of independent non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

In respect of the appointment and reappointment of Directors, the nomination committee adopted a nomination policy 
concerning the selection criteria and procedures. The factors that would be used as reference by the Nomination 
Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate are reputation for integrity, qualifications, skills and 
experience that are relevant to the Group’s businesses having regard to the corporate strategy and commitment in 
respect of available time and relevant interest. In the case of nominating the candidate for appointment/re-appointment 
as an INED, in addition to the selection criteria to which the Nomination Committee would give due regard, the 
independence of the candidate would be assessed with reference to the independence criteria set out in the Listing 
Rules. If an INED serves more than nine consecutive years, particular attention would be given to reviewing the 
independence of such INED for determining his eligibility for nomination by the Board to stand for re-election at a 
general meeting.
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The Nomination Committee also adopted a diversity policy in relation to the nomination and appointment of new 
directors. The Nomination Committee selects board candidates based on a range of diversity perspectives with 
reference to the Company’s business model and specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race, 
language, cultural background, educational background, industry experience and professional experience.

As at 31 December 2020 and up to date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee comprises two independent 
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus (chairman) and Mr. Tam B Ray, Billy and one executive 
Director, Mr. Su Zhituan.

The Nomination Committee held two meeting during the year ended 31 December 2020.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is currently composed of three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chu Kin Wang, 
Peleus (chairman), Mr. Tam B Ray, Billy and Dr. Wang Dangxiao. The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual 
results of the Group for the twelve months ended 31 December 2020 and has provided advice and comments thereon.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include:

(a) to review the relationship with the external auditor to (i) make recommendations to the Board on the 
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms 
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal; and (ii) review and 
monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in 
accordance with applicable standards;

(b) to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and annual report and accounts, half-year report and 
quarterly reports, and review these reports and significant financial reporting judgements contained in them;

(c) to review the Company’s financial controls, risk management and internal control systems, discuss the risk 
management and internal control systems with management to ensure that management has performed its duty 
to have effective systems, and consider major investigation findings on risk management and internal control 
matters;

(d) to consider any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in the report and accounts, it 
should give due consideration to any matters that have been raised by the Company’s staff responsible for the 
accounting and financial reporting function, compliance officer or auditors; and

(e) to review arrangements that employees of the Company can use, in confidence, raise concerns about possible 
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters, and ensure that proper arrangements are in 
place for fair and independent investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

During the 2020 Year, the Audit Committee had five meetings and performed the above mentioned principal duties 
and reviewed the Company’s annual results, annual report, interim report and quarterly reports and to advise and 
comments thereon to the Board. The Audit Committee has performed the duties to review the compliance procedures, 
report on the Company’s internal control and risk management. The Audit Committee also met the external auditor 
twice without the presence of the executive Directors. Besides, there is no disagreement between the Board and the 
Audit Committee regarding the re-appointment of external auditor.
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The Audit Committee is established with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM 
Listing Rules. The full terms of reference setting out the Audit Committee’s authority and its role and responsibilities 
are available on the websites of the Company (www.superrobotics.com.hk) and the Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional 
development of Directors and the senior management, the Company’s policies and practices compliance with the legal 
and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the “Code for Securities Transactions by Directors” and “Code for 
Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees”, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in 
this corporate governance report.

ATTENDANCE OF GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the Chairman should attend the annual general meeting of the 
Company and he should invite the chairmen of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination 
Committee and any other committees (as appropriate) to attend. Pursuant to code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, 
independent non-executive Director and other non-executive Directors should attend the general meetings of the 
Company. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the annual general meeting of the Company was held on 2 June 
2020 (the “2020 AGM”) and all the then Directors had attended the 2020 AGM.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year under review, the remuneration in respect of audit services and non-audit services provided by the 
Company’s external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, is set out below:

Fee paid/payable
Services rendered HK$’000  

Audit services 1,580
Non-audit services 54

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Company’s financial statements for each financial period 
and to ensure that the financial statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting 
standards. The Board also ensures the timely publication of the financial statements. The Directors, having made 
appropriate enquiries, confirm that, save as disclosed in Note 2.1(c) to the consolidated financial statements, they 
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the risk management and internal control of the Group. To facilitate the 
effectiveness and efficient operations and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations, the Group 
emphasizes the importance of a sound risk management and internal control systems which is also indispensable for 
mitigating the Group’s risk exposures. The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis by the Board in order to make it practical and effective in providing reasonable assurance in relation to protection 
of material assets and identification of business risks. The Board is satisfied that, based on information furnished to 
it and on its own observations, the present risk management and internal control of the Group are satisfactory. The 
Group has implemented a practical and effective control system which includes a defined management structure with 
limits of authority, a sound cash management system and periodic review of the Group’s performance by the Audit 
Committee and the Board. The Board has conducted review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control and 
is of the view that the risk management and internal control systems adopted for the year ended 31 December 2020 is 
sound and are effective to safeguard the interests of the shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets.

With respect to procedures and internal controls for handling dissemination of inside information, the Company is 
aware of its obligations under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) 
and the Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should be announced immediately after such 
information comes to our attention and/or it is the subject of a decision unless it falls within the safe harbours as 
provided in the SFO. The Company conducts its affairs with close regard to the applicable laws and regulations and 
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the Securities and Futures Commission. The Company 
has also communicated to all staff the principal and requirement regarding inside information.

As required under code provision C.2.5 of the CG code, the Company has established an internal audit function. 
A senior executive has been appointed in charge of the internal audit function and reports directly to the Audit 
Committee. The senior executive is provided with unrestricted access to all information of on Group’s assets, records 
and personnel in the course of internal audit. The senior executive has attended the Audit Committee meetings and 
reported findings to members of the Audit Committee. All Directors are informed of the findings of internal audit 
assignments carried out during the year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman on governance matters and also 
facilitates induction and professional development of the Directors. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman. 
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures, 
all applicable law, rules and regulations are followed. Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles (“Mr. Yang”) is the Company 
Secretary. According to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Yang has confirmed that he has taken no less than 
15 hours of relevant professional training to update his skills and knowledge during the period under review. He will 
continue to comply with the GEM Listing Rules and take no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in each 
financial year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for communication between the shareholders and the 
Board. An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined 
by the Board. Annual report, interim report and quarterly reports offer comprehensive information to the shareholders 
of the Company on operational and financial performance whereas annual general meetings provide a forum for the 
shareholders of the Company to exchange views directly with the Board. All of the then Directors and all members of 
the Audit Committee attended the 2020 AGM to answer questions raised at the meeting. Each general meeting, other 
than an annual general meeting, shall be called a special general meeting (the “SGM”).
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Right to convene SGM

According to the Bye-laws, any one or more shareholders of the Company holding at the date of deposit of the 
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general 
meeting of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, 
to require a SGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. The 
requisition must be lodged with the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrars in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that 
the request is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient 
notice in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered members. On the contrary, if the request 
has been verified is not in order, the shareholders will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, a SGM will not be 
convened as requested. If within twenty-one (21) days from the date of the deposit of the proper and orderly requisition 
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s), may convene a meeting in the same manner, 
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed 
by the Company to the requisitionist(s).

The notice period to be given to all the registered members for consideration of the proposal raised by the 
requisitionist(s) concerned at the SGM varies according to the nature of the proposal, as follows:

— At least 14 clear days’ notice in writing (and not less than 10 business days) if the proposal constitutes an 
ordinary resolution of the Company in SGM;

— At least 21 clear days’ notice in writing (and not less than 10 business days) if the proposal constitutes a 
special resolution of the Company in SGM.

Right to put forward enquiries to the Board

Shareholders of the Company may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing to the 
Company Secretary at the Company’s head office in Hong Kong at Room 1405, 14/F., China Merchants Tower, Shun 
Tak Centre, 166-200 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders of the Company should follow the procedures set out in the sub-section headed “Right to convene SGM” 
above for putting forward proposals at general meetings.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

There is no significant changes in the Company’s Bye-laws during the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders of the Company is essential for enhancing 
investor relations and investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company 
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with the shareholders of the Company and in particular, through annual 
general meetings and other general meetings. The website of the Company is http://www.superrobotics.com.hk.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy on 26 March 2019 (“Dividend Policy”) which shall take effect 
on 26 March 2019. The Dividend Policy allows the shareholders of the Company to participate in the Company’s profits 
by provision of dividends whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity to capture future growth opportunities. According 
to the Dividend Policy, the Board shall consider the following factors, among others, before proposing and declaring 
dividends:

(i) the Group’s operation and financial performance;

(ii) the Group’s capital requirements and future funding needs;

(iii) the liquidity conditions of the Group;

(iv) the availability of reserves of the Company and each of the members of the Group;

(v) any restriction on payment of dividends;

(vi) the general economic conditions and other internal and external factors that may have an impact on the 
business or financial performance and position of the Group; and

(vii) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The declaration of dividends by the Company is also subject to the compliance with applicable laws and regulations, 
including the laws of Bermuda, the GEM Listing Rules, bye-laws of the Company and any applicable laws, rules 
and regulations. The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time by the Board and may adopt changes as 
appropriate at the relevant time. There can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for 
any given period.
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About This Report

We are delighted to present the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report of SuperRobotics Holdings 
Limited (the “Company”) together with its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”). The Group’s main operations include 
sales of beauty products and the provision of therapy services (the “Beauty Business”), as well as the provision of 
engineering products and related services (the “Engineering Business”).

We believe that sustainable business growth is of high priority to both the Group and its stakeholders. We are 
committed to providing quality and socially responsible products and services to the community, whilst minimising the 
environmental and social impacts from our operations.

The report is compiled in accordance with the disclosure requirement of the “comply or explain” provisions as detailed 
in the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (ESG Guide) under Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing 
Rules issued by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The disclosure contents of this Report have been 
confirmed by the Board.

The reporting period of this report shall cover the period between 1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020.

Stakeholder Engagement

We engage our stakeholders on an ongoing basis and seek to collect their views and expectations on our ESG 
performance and disclosures. In response to the interests and concerns of our stakeholders, the ESG performance of 
the Group was reviewed using the strictest corporate governance principles, with respect to environmental protection, 
employee development, community investment. The results of the review are presented in the following sections of the 
report.

To extend its efforts to a broader audience, the Group had consulted both its internal and external stakeholders on 
its potential impact on the environment and society as a result of its business operations. The Group understands 
and values a mutually-beneficial relationship with customers and suppliers, and thus included both parties as our 
consultation targets.

The table below presents key stakeholders of the Group as well as the engagement channels adopted by the Group 
during the year to communicate with the respective parties.

Internal Stakeholders External Stakeholders
•	 The	Board
•	 Management
•	 General	Staff

•	 Shareholders
•	 Investors
•	 Customers
•	 Suppliers

Engagement methods:

Meetings, staff performance appraisal interviews, interviews direct mail, internal publications, Annual General Meeting 
(“AGM”) and announcements.
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Materiality Assessment

To identify the key concerns and interests of the Group’s internal and external stakeholders, such as customers, 
investors, employees, suppliers and the government, we have performed a materiality assessment, and the results of 
the assessment is presented in the below figures:

Legend
E1 Raw Materials Management  O1 Supplier Management S1 Child Labour and Forced 

Labour Management 
E2 Wastewater Management O2 Innovation and Intellectual 

Property Rights 
S2 Diversity and Equal 

Opportunity 
E3 Energy Management O3 Product Quality Management S3 Human Right Protection 
E4 Air Emission Management O4 Product Health and Safety S4 Talent Management 
E5 Expenses on Environmental 

Protection
O5 Anti-competitive behaviour 

management 
S5 Social and Economic 

Compliance 
E6 Waste Management O6 Product Sales and Labelling S6 Training and Development 
E7 Greenhouse Gases 

Management
O7 Occupational Safety and 

Health 
S7 Community Relations 

E8 Environmental Compliance O8 Data Security and Customer 
Privacy Management 

S8 Employee communication 

E9 Green Product Management O9 Generation of Economic 
Value 

O10 Anti-Corruption 
O11 Company profitability 
O12 Anti-discrimination 
O13 Customer Satisfaction 



SuperRobotics Holdings Limited ● Annual Report 202041

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL & GOVERNANCE 
REPORT

Stakeholder Feedback

Stakeholders’ valuable feedback can help us continuously improve with respect to our environmental, social and 
governance strategy and performance. If you have any questions or comments regarding the contents of this report, 
please contact us through one of our communication channels.

Environmental Protection

The Group endeavours to create sustained business growth that is not achieved at the expense of our environment. 
The Group’s environmental policy emphasises both impact management and efficient utilization of resources. This 
is achieved mainly through development of strategies relating to proper waste management, energy efficiency 
enhancement, and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions reduction.

The Group is aware of the potential environmental impacts associated with its engineering business and has developed 
a set of internal regulations with the objective of minimising such impacts. Our robotics business, for instance, has 
implemented an environmental management system in line with the international standard ISO14001:2015.

Impact Awareness

To measure the impacts from our operations from the robotics business, we have implemented a number of 
environmental management policies, including Policy for Identification and Evaluation of Environmental Factors （環境
因素識別與評價程序）, Policy for Monitoring and Surveying of Environmental Safety （環境安全監視和測量控制程序）, and 
Policy for Environmental Monitoring Management （環境監測管理程序）.

The Group adopts a risk-based approach to identify significant environmental aspects by measuring the scale of 
potential impact and its likelihood. This helps us prioritise mitigation measures to address activities identified to be the 
most impactful to the environment.

A systematic approach is adopted by the Group to identify factors of environmental impact associated with the 
Engineering Business. Factors covered by this analysis include emissions (including atmospheric, water, and noise), 
waste production, land pollution, use of resources, in addition to other environmental and social impacts. In addition 
to normal operation, the analysis considers potential impacts related to alternate operation modes and emergency 
scenarios. Major environmental factors identified from this exercise are managed and monitored regularly. In case of 
significant changes to the premises of the analysis, such as revisions in regulation, the impact identification process 
will be revisited.

COVID-19 Impact on Environmental Performance

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the scale of the Group’s business operations was reduced during 2020 in accordance 
with pandemic prevention policies. As a result, the emissions and resource consumption of the Group in 2020 were 
significantly different than previous years, and may not provide a representative indication of the Group’s environmental 
performance.
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Emissions

The Group puts great emphasis on energy conservation and GHG emission reduction at our premises. The use of 
equipment with higher energy efficiency ratings is strongly encouraged. Hydrofluorocarbon (HFC) refrigerants, which 
have lower global warming potential compared to traditional chlorofluorocarbon (CFC) and hydrochlorofluorocarbon 
(HCFC) refrigerants, are used in our air conditioning systems as far as possible to limit GHG emissions. The air 
conditioning systems are regularly maintained to achieve higher energy efficiency and reduce associated GHG 
emissions.

To reduce automobile emissions, vehicles owned by the Group are regularly inspected and provided with proper 
maintenance. Also, purchase of vehicles with better fuel economy ratings is preferred, to reduce fuel consumption and 
associated expenses. Employees are encouraged to prevent idling during everyday use of vehicles.

During the reporting period, the Group operated in compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to emissions, 
and generated 74 tonnes of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in total. The Group will continue to strive to minimize 
business travel through the use of videoconferencing where possible in substitute of face-to-face meetings.

The major source of direct emissions was from the use of petrol-powered automobiles, which emit NOx, SOx and 
particulate matter in addition to carbon dioxide. Overall, of particulate matter were produced by the Group’s operations 
in 2020 as below.

Nitrogen Oxides 
(NOx)

14.4 kg

Sulphur Oxides 
(SOx)

0.08 kg

Particulate
Matter (PM)

1.31 kg

Environmental KPIs Unit 2020
Greenhouse gas (GHG) Emissions

Scope 1 — Direct emissions tonne CO2e 14.42
Scope 2 – Energy indirect emissions tonne CO2e 33.44
Scope 3 – Other indirect emissions* tonne CO2e 26.13

Total Emissions tonne CO2e 73.99
Emission Intensity kg CO2e/1000 HKD revenue 1.48

* includes contribution from business air travels and paper waste disposed at landfills
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Use of Resources

The Group places a high priority on effective use of resources such as water, electricity, fuel and paper. Resource 
usage at our robotics offices is addressed in a dedicated policy regarding resource and energy consumption （資源能源
控制規定）. Consumption is monitored on a monthly basis and corrective actions will be implemented in case excessive 
consumption is identified. Policies are also in place to regulate the use of air-conditioning. Indoor air-conditioning is 
turned on when the outdoor temperature is 30°C or higher, and is set at 26°C or above to limit electricity consumption 
while maintaining a suitable working environment. In addition, the Group’s intends to operate its offices in a paperless 
environment, reducing paper usage where possible. Employees are recommended to use duplex printing and copying. 
In addition, most of our marketing materials were distributed through electronic means only.

To reduce water consumption, reminders are posted within the Group’s offices and beauty centres to promote water 
conservation practices.

Environmental KPIs Unit 2020
Energy Consumption
Direct Energy Consumption

Petrol kWh 52,833
Indirect Energy Consumption

Purchased Electricity kWh 41,280
Energy Intensity kWh/1000 HKD revenue 1.88
Water Consumption
Water Consumed m3 2,900
Water Consumption Intensity m3/1000 HKD revenue 0.058

Managing our Waste

Waste management procedures have been implemented to properly segregate, store and dispose waste generated 
from our operations in accordance with regulatory requirements. Waste reduction, reuse and recycling of materials 
where possible are strongly encouraged. To achieve this, a representative from each department is assigned to ensure 
all produced waste are categorized and disposed accordingly. In addition, the importance of waste categorization, 
along with categorization techniques are regularly presented to all members of our staff through means such as 
meetings and signages. Our Waste Management Policy（廢棄物管理規定）also calls for routine maintenance and 
cleaning of waste collection locations within our facilities to limit foul odours and to repel insects. Relevant national 
and local laws and regulations with respect to waste disposal are strictly adhered to.

The Group has adopted a number of risk reduction measures at our Robotics manufacturing sites to limit emissions of 
contaminated water, as addressed in its Chemical Substances Management Policy（化學物質管理規定）. Disposal of oil 
and chemicals into the sewer system is strictly prohibited. To prevent contamination of runoff, the Group prohibits the 
storage of hazardous substances and pollutants near stormwater drainage channels. Furthermore, stormwater channels 
are segregated from the wastewater disposal network at the Group’s production facilities.
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Hazardous Waste

The operation of the Group’s medical skincare centre in Hong Kong generates medical waste such as syringes and 
needles, of which their disposal is executed in accordance with Waste Disposal (Clinical Waste) General Regulation 
(Cap 354O).

In this reporting period, the Group generated a total of 0.34 tonnes of hazardous waste, including 0.3 tonnes of spent 
batteries, which were disposed by authorised recycle factories. The Group will continue monitoring closely on reduction 
efforts to limit the production of hazardous waste.

Non-hazardous Waste

Waste generation data associated with the Group’s daily operations is collected and logged in an organized fashion. 
Non-hazardous waste produced by our Beauty business includes but not limited to cotton swabs, shower caps, paper 
slippers and towels. As for our Robotics business, examples of typical non-hazardous wastes produced include 
cardboard cartons, hardware (e.g., screws, nuts, bolts), springs, gloves and masks.

During this reporting period, the Group generated a total of 5.00 tonnes of non-hazardous waste. The Group will 
continue monitoring closely on reduction efforts.

Environmental KPIs Unit 2020
Waste Production
Hazardous waste produced tonne 0.34
Non-hazardous waste produced tonne 5.00

Packaging Materials

During the reporting period, it was recorded that a total of 2.7 tonnes of packaging material was used for the 
packaging of finished products. The use of packaging materials is mainly associated with the Engineering business, 
which includes plastic bubble wraps and cardboard cartons for transport, and wooden boxes. 

Environmental KPIs Unit 2020
Packaging Materials

Total tonne 2.7

Recycling

In addition to the reducing consumption, the Group also promotes the recycling of materials to minimize waste 
generation. During the reporting period, a total of 0.1 tonnes of paper was collected at the Group’s facilities for 
recycling.
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SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment

The business of the Group spreads across two industry sectors. The Group understands that our staff is the key to the 
success of our business and we adopt a people-centric strategy to human capital management. To attract and motivate 
talent, the Group is committed to providing a rewarding career and maintaining a safe, and positive environment. 
Our human resources policies and handbook provides clear guidance covering various employment aspects including 
compensation, dismissal, recruitment, promotion, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, welfare, 
and other benefits.

Recruiting and retaining talent is vital to our business growth. To identify and secure suitable young talent with the 
needed knowledge and skillsets for our high-tech robotics business, we work closely with universities in Shenzhen, 
Mainland China for campus recruitment. In addition, through usage of popular social media platforms such as WeChat, 
our career recruitment network extends beyond Shenzhen to engage and attract aspiring talents from the rest of 
Mainland China.

As one of its guiding principles, the Group commits to growing its business in a manner that is both sustainable and 
socially responsible. It is the Group’s goal to maintain its best management practices and evolve with time through a 
continual improvement process.

During the reporting period, the Group was in compliance with relevant labour laws in Hong Kong SAR and PRC, 
including but not limited to regulations on compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, equal-opportunity 
and anti-discrimination.

Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Anti-Discrimination

The Group is committed to ensure that our employees are given equal opportunities with respect to recruitment, 
promotion, training & development, compensation and other aspects of employment practices. All forms of 
discrimination are prohibited, including on the grounds of gender, religion, race, sexual orientation, age, family status, 
disability, maternity or political affiliation. This principle against discrimination is applied across all aspects of our 
human resource management philosophy.

Work-Life Balance

To enhance employee engagement and encourage collaboration, during the year, we organise a range of teambuilding 
activities, including an outdoor team-bonding day, corporate basketball matches, and public speaking competitions 
amongst colleagues. Furthermore, the employees are welcomed to organize hobby clubs based on their interests. The 
Group has allocated an annual sponsorship budget to fund the operations of hobby clubs.

Remuneration

Our employees are assessed and incentivised based on their performance. The Group reviews the remuneration 
package annually to maintain competitiveness in the market. The Group strictly follows the requirements for working 
hours and holidays defined in local laws in the jurisdictions where its operations are located. Our employees are 
entitled to local statutory holidays and paid leaves. In addition, our employees are provided with other forms of paid 
time off, such as marriage leave, compassionate leave, maternity leave and paternity leave.
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Retirement Benefit Scheme

The Group participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF) scheme and have fulfilled the employer contribution 
requirements during the Reporting Period in accordance with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance 
(Cap. 485). For the employees of the Engineering Business which operate in PRC, the Group makes contributions to 
the central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government, in compliance with the Labour Law of the 
People’s Republic of China. Similarly, for the Group’s qualified Engineering business employees in Canada, the Group 
participates in the Canada Pension Plan (CPP). The Group makes monthly contributions to the scheme at up to about 
5% of the employees’ relevant incomes.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the total contributions paid or payable to the pension fund scheme by the 
Group amounted to approximately HK$0.3 million (approximately HK$6.1 million in 2019), which has been recognized 
as expenses and included in employee costs in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

In addition to standard compensation packages and bonuses, we offer a range of supplementary benefits to our 
Beauty business employees, including medical coverage, footwear allowance, complementary beauty treatments, 
staff discounts and meal allowance. For our Engineering business employees, meal and transportation subsidies are 
provided, in addition to gift-money for special occasions such as Lunar New Year, Mid-Autumn Festival and employee 
birthdays.

As of 31 December, 2020, the Group has a total of 134 employees, and the breakdown of our workforce distribution is 
presented in the following table:

Total Number of Employees 134
Employees Gender Distribution 

Number of Male Employees 83 62%
Number of Female Employees 51 38%

Employees Age Distribution 
Within the age group <24 4 3%
Within the age group 24-30 29 22%
Within the age group 31-40 79 59%
Within the age group 41-50 19 14%
Within the age group 51-60 3 2%
Within the age group >60 0 0%

Health and Safety

Occupational health and safety (OHS) and the wellbeing of our employees are one of the Group’s key priorities. The 
Group adopts proper procedures at the workplace to ensure employees have sufficient training and support.

The Engineering Business has implemented an OHSAS18001:2007-compliant occupational safety system, with policies 
and processes in place which clearly define requirements on the continuous improvement of safety risk management. 
Employees are required to participate in regular safety training, consisting of seminars and workshops to enhance 
safety awareness and be equipped with necessary safety knowledge.

During the reporting period, the Group was in compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to the provision of 
safe working environments and protection of employees from occupational hazards.
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Safe Handling of Hazardous Substances

The Group keeps record of all hazardous substances handled within the Group’s facilities, documenting information 
such as the department(s) using the substance, storage location and physical & chemical properties. Specific 
firefighting measures have been developed based on the hazardous properties of the individual substances. 
Compatibility between hazardous substances is taken into careful consideration to reduce the risks with leaks, 
contamination and undesired chemical reactions. Storage depots are provided for storing hazardous chemicals in larger 
quantities or for over a long period of time. To avoid mishandling of chemicals, containers are provided with colour-
coded labels to indicate potential flammable/toxic hazards.

Fire Safety

Firefighting provisions are inspected on a daily basis and maintenance is provided where required to ensure proper 
functioning of emergency response equipment. Evacuation routes on-site are regularly surveyed to ensure no obstacles 
are present. The Group maintains consistent contact with local environmental ministries and fire departments to 
maintain up-to-date information with respect to safety and environmental protection. In addition, fire drills and safety 
seminars are conducted every year to prepare our employees for potential fire emergencies.

Occupational Health

Personnel working at the Group’s engineering business are equipped with suitable personal protection equipment 
(PPEs) such as gloves, masks and earmuffs to limit exposure to hazardous chemicals and loud noise. Training is 
provided to workers to ensure proper use of PPEs. In addition, staff is provided with annual health check-ups and are 
treated accordingly in case any occupational sickness is diagnosed. The Occupational Health and Safety Management 
System at our engineering business is in compliance with ISO 45001:2018.

At Group’s Beauty Business, sharp materials such as needles are used during the delivery of medical skincare services 
which can pose health and safety risks. Hence, beauty centre staffs are provided with induction and refresher training 
on safety procedures to reduce the number of workplace injuries. In addition, reminders are set up at the workplace 
highlighting standard operating procedures and the appropriate emergency response in the event of accidental injury. 
All workplace injuries and near-miss incidents are required to be reported to the Group for further review.

Therapists are provided with a break of at least 15 minutes between beauty therapy sessions; this aims to help them 
better concentrate at work and minimise health and safety risks due to fatigue.

During the reporting period, no work-related injury cases were recorded during the Group’s operations.

COVID-19 Response

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group introduced a number of policies to safeguard the wellbeing of its 
staff. This includes the provision of masks and disinfecting agents to prevent the spreading of the pandemic at our 
facilities. Body temperature screening is required prior to access to work locations, and staff members are instructed to 
wash hands often and avoid gatherings and contact with external personnel.

In addition, in accordance with policies introduced by the Hong Kong SAR government, we ensured that adequate 
separation distances are provided at treatment areas at our Beauty business, in addition to thorough sterilization of 
all instruments and equipment prior to delivery of beauty treatments to our customers. Beauty treatments requiring the 
use of facial steamers were suspended. Furthermore, our beauty centres operated by reservation only to ensure strict 
control on the number of customers present at the centre. In effort to minimize customer inconvenience, we proactively 
contacted our customers to notify them of our operational changes implemented during the COVID-19 period.
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Development and Training

The Group believes that continuous development and training of its staff is the key to sustaining its high service 
quality and competitiveness in the market. Employees are engaged from time to time for members of the management 
to understand their developmental needs and encourage them to learn new skills and knowledge for professional and 
personal development.

The Group’s engineering business requires a high level of skills and expertise. To keep our engineers up-to-date with 
the latest robotics technology development, we typically arrange training courses on the robotics product line, software 
programming, robotics design, technology and manufacturing process & safety. Depending on specific training needs, 
we also invite external consultants to deliver training courses. However, due to operational limitations as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the training curriculum was suspended in 2020 for our engineering business.

To equip the frontline staffs of the Beauty Business with the right skillset and knowledge, a one-month full-time training 
program is provided for new recruits. Coached by experienced employees and registered doctors, the program covers 
medical theories, practical skills and customer service. The trainees are required to pass a compulsory stringent 
examination to qualify as a beauty therapist before providing service to the customer. During the reporting period, we 
have provided a number of training sessions for our Beauty Business employees, covering topics including product 
promotion, equipment handling and client consultation skills.

During the reporting period, the Group’s employees received a total of 273 man-hours of training. The average training 
received per employee was 2.1 hours during the reporting period. A breakdown of training statistics is presented 
below:

Training Statistics
Total Training Hours

 Male Employees 70
 Female Employees 203
 Senior Management Staff 18
 Middle Management Staff 55
 Other Employees 200

Average Training Hours
 Male Employees 0.8
 Female Employees 4.1

Labour Standards

The Group strictly complies with the labour standards in the local jurisdictions where its businesses are located, 
including “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China” 《中華人民共和國勞動法》, “Labour Contract Law of the 
People’s Republic of China” 《中華人民共和國勞動合同法》, “Provisions and Prohibition of Using Child Labour” 《禁止使
用童工規定》, “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Minors” 《中華人民共和國未成年人保護法》 as 
well as the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) of Hong Kong. Use of child or forced labour in our operations is strictly 
prohibited, and is enforced through verification of identity information of job candidates. We expect our suppliers to 
adhere to the same standard of labour practices.
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Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

The Group interacts with a number of suppliers and avoids use of a single supplier for products and services to 
minimise supply chain risks. We are committed to upholding high ethical and professional standards when dealing with 
suppliers. We have established and implemented a procedure for supplier monitoring and screening. Compliance with 
national and local laws and regulations is an essential criterion in our supplier-selection process. Supplier performance, 
including quality and safety, is assessed regularly; in the event of unsatisfactory performance, the supplier will be 
required to take timely follow-up actions. Suppliers failing to comply with our standards can be suspended from 
initiating business operations with us.

In addition to our Engineering Business, our Quality Assurance team conducts factory inspections to assess the quality 
and suitability of the products, as well as to identify any failures during production. Our Procurement team will be 
informed should suppliers fail the inspection and such suppliers shall subsequently be removed from the approved list.

Product Responsibility

The quality of our products and impeccable customer service is the foundation to the long-term sustainability of our 
business. The Group aspires to deliver high-standard beauty solutions, engineering products and related professional 
services to our customers.

We are committed to delivering products of high quality. Our Engineering Business has implemented a quality 
management system in line with the ISO9001:2015 standard. Independent and accredited laboratories are engaged to 
assure the quality, performance and durability of our products such as bomb-disposal robots, to ensure compliance with 
customer specifications and relevant regulatory requirements. With an aim to facilitate quality management efficiency at 
our Engineering Business, we plan to set up in-house testing laboratories for our robotic and line machinery products 
at our future manufacturing facilities. Products that do not meet customer requirements or have potential safety 
concerns will be subject to investigation and recall; follow-up actions will be timely taken as appropriate to identify and 
rectify the root cause.

Our Beauty Business has stringent criteria on product ingredients, certification and the place of origin when procuring 
beauty products. Products that are free of fragrance and preservatives are given priority. Products are tested by our 
experienced staff prior to customer use. We have stronger preferences on skincare treatment machines that are being 
certified by reputable authorities such as the US Food and Drug Administration.

Our medical skincare centre adheres to its “3S” core values when delivering beauty therapy services to the customers, 
namely “strive for excellent and sustainable development” through excellent service, “self-esteem” through professional 
expertise and “sincere” through understanding the needs of customers.

During the reporting period, the Group was in compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to health & safety, 
advertising, labelling, with respect to the products and services provided by the Group.
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Customer Feedback

We welcome constructive feedback from our customers and provide them with various communication channels. At 
our Beauty Business, customer opinions and feedback is collected through questionnaires after therapy. Customer 
complaints including post-treatment allergic reactions are documented in writing upon receipt for follow-up. Our 
customer service staffs are well-trained and capable of handling customer complaints in a timely and efficient manner. 
Compensation is decided and provided to customers based on our established procedures for confirmed cases.

Privacy and Intellectual Property Rights

The Group is committed to protecting customer privacy and has established and implemented respective policies 
and procedures. All employees are required to sign a Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure Agreement and abide by its 
requirements.

The Group respects intellectual property rights and is committed to avoiding any infringement of intellectual 
property rights of other parties. Employees are required to obtain licences or other permissions and follow relevant 
requirements. Most of our robotics products are developed in-house and out of our patent applications, 11 patents 
were granted in Mainland China in 2020. Our employees are required to strictly follow relevant laws and regulations, 
as well as internal policies and procedures in protecting our own intellectual property rights from infringement.

Anti-corruption

The Group attaches great importance to business integrity and upholds high standards in business ethics. We 
have zero tolerance for any form of corruption, bribery, fraud, and money laundering and have specified relevant 
requirements to all employees in the employee handbook. Employees are provided with channels to raise concerns 
and report any suspected misconduct in a confidential manner. Reported cases are investigated and evidences are 
collected for evaluation. Where required, necessary actions will be taken based on the conclusions of the investigation.

The operation of the Group complies with the standards of conduct specified in the relevant regulations and laws 
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. This includes “Criminal Law of the PRC” 《中華人民共和國刑
法》, “Interim Provisions on Banning Commercial Bribery” 《關於禁止商業賄賂行為的暫行規定》 in mainland China, and 
“Prevention of Bribery Ordinance” of Hong Kong. There were no cases of corruption during the reporting period.

Community Investment

The Group strives to contribute to the community with its resources and expertise. We have been supporting non-profit 
organizations in their community projects by offering charitable donations.

In the coming years, we will continue to seek opportunities to cooperate with other external organisations to increase 
our community outreach and contribution.

Regulatory Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a 
significant impact on the Group relating to areas such as environmental protection, employment, labour practices and 
operating practices.
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To the Shareholders of SuperRobotics Holdings Limited (formerly known as SuperRobotics Limited)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of SuperRobotics Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”) set out on pages 59 to 124, which comprise:

•	 the	consolidated	statement	of	 financial	position	as	at	31	December	2020;
•	 the	consolidated	statement	of	comprehensive	 income	for	 the	year	 then	ended;
•	 the	consolidated	statement	of	changes	 in	equity	 for	 the	year	 then	ended;
•	 the	consolidated	statement	of	cash	flows	for	 the	year	 then	ended;	and
•	 the	notes	to	 the	consolidated	financial	statements,	which	 include	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the 
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2.1(c) to the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a 
net loss of HK$131,885,000 and had a net cash used in operating activities of HK$48,297,000 during the year ended 
31 December 2020. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a shareholders’ deficits of HK$118,543,000 and net 
current assets of HK$38,375,000 including cash and cash equivalents of HK$57,966,000 and long-term borrowings of 
HK$156,478,000. Subsequent to the year end in January 2021, the Group repaid approximately HK$47,432,000 long-
term borrowings which further reduced the cash and cash equivalents of the Group. These conditions, along with 
other matters as described in Note 2.1(c) to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of a material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not 
modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matters described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going 
Concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in 
our report.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

•	 Impairment	assessment	of	non-financial	assets	within	 the	Robotics	CGU;	and
•	 Revenue	recognition	from	provision	of	 therapy	services;

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of non-financial assets 
within the Robotics CGU

Refer to Notes 2.6, 2.8, 4(a) and 17 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2020, non-financial assets of the 
Group’s Robotics CGU mainly included intangible 
assets (including goodwill and other intangible assets), 
property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets 
attributable to the Robotics CGU of HK$86,314,000, 
HK$16,113,000 and HK$7,862,000 respectively, before 
impairment provision.

As described in the Accounting Policies in Notes 
2.6 and 2.8 to the consolidated financial statements, 
goodwill is tested at least annually for impairment and 
the Group performs assessment at the end of each 
reporting period to consider any indication that non-
financial assets may be impaired.

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment 
assessment of non-financial assets within the Robotics 
CGU included:

— U n d e r s t o o d ,  e v a l u a t e d  a n d  v a l i d a t e d 
management’s internal control and assessment 
process of impairment assessment of non-financial 
assets and assessed the inherent risk of material 
m iss ta tement  by cons ider ing the degree o f 
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent 
risk factors.

— Assessed the ob ject iv i ty ,  independence and 
e x p e r t i s e  o f  t h e  e x t e r n a l  v a l u e r  u s e d  b y 
management.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of non-financial assets 
within the Robotic CGU

Management prepared value-in-use calculations of 
the Robotics CGU with the support of an independent 
valuer to determine the recoverable amount of the 
CGU. S ign i f i can t  management  j udgements  and 
estimates are required to determine the recoverable 
amounts , based on va lue- in-use ca lcu la t ions of 
the estimated future cash flows of the CGU, using 
appropr iate key assumptions including the prof i t 
margins, terminal growth rate, and pre-tax discount 
rate.

Based on the results of management’s impairment 
assessment, impairment charges of HK$27,084,000, 
HK$6,194,000 and HK$7,862,000 have been made by 
management on intangible assets (including goodwill 
and other intangible assets), property, plant and 
equipment, and right-of-use assets, respectively within 
the Robotics CGU for the year ended 31 December 
2020.

We focused on th is area due to the s igni f icant 
judgements and estimates involved by management in 
determining the recoverable amounts of non-financial 
assets within the Robotics CGU.

— Evaluated the appropriateness of the value-in-use 
calculations methodology adopted by management 
and the external valuer with the support of our in-
house valuation specialist.

— Compared the Group’s current year actual results 
with the figures included in prior year forecasts 
to assess the effect iveness of management’s 
estimation process.

— Compared the cash flow forecasts used in the 
value-in-use calculat ions to f inancial budgets 
approved by management and assessed the 
reasonableness of the forecasts and budgets by 
comparing them against historical information and 
business plans.

— Discussed with management to understand and 
evaluate the basis and reasonableness of the key 
assumptions, including the profit margins, terminal 
growth rate and pre-tax discount rate, underlying 
value-in-use calculations, with reference to market 
developments.

— Evaluated the reasonableness of the discount rate 
used in the calculations by comparing with the 
industries or market data.

— Tested the mathematical accuracy of the value-in-
use calculations.

— Evaluated the sensi t iv i ty analys is per formed 
by management around the key assumptions 
applied to the value-in-use calculations in order to 
assess the potential impact of a range of possible 
outcomes.

B a s e d  o n  t h e  p r o c e d u r e s  p e r f o r m e d ,  w e  f o u n d 
management’s judgements and estimates used in the 
impairment assessment of the non-f inancial assets 
within the Robotics CGU to be supportable by available 
evidence.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition from provision of therapy 
services

Refer to Notes 2.22, 4(b), 5 and 27 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, revenue 
from provis ion of therapy services amount ing to 
HK$30,960 ,000 was recogn ised in  the Group ’s 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. As 
at 31 December 2020, the Group had contract liabilities 
from provision of therapy services of HK$25,751,000.

As described in the Accounting Policies in Note 2.22 
to the consolidated f inancial statements, revenue 
from provision of therapy services are recognised 
when the services have been rendered to customers. 
Payments from customers that are related to services 
not yet rendered are shown as contract liabilities in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition from 
provision of therapy services included:

— We understood and evaluated the key controls 
of the Group in respect of revenue recognition 
for the provision of therapy services, including 
the recording of proceeds received in respect 
of prepaid service as contract l iabi l i t ies, the 
recognit ion of revenue based on the number 
of therapy t reatment serv ices rendered, the 
recogni t ion of breakage in proport ion to the 
pattern of services provided to customers, and the 
recognition of any residual contract liabilities as 
revenue upon the expiry of the service contracts, 
and assessed the inheren t  r i sk o f  mater ia l 
m iss ta tement  by cons ider ing the degree o f 
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent 
risk factors.

— We tested, on a sample basis, the key controls 
over revenue recognit ion for the provision of 
therapy services.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition from provision of therapy 
services

Most of the Group’s therapy services are sold on a 
prepaid basis. Prepaid services are not refundable 
and customers may not utilise all of their contractual 
rights within the service period and these unutilised 
services are referred to as “breakage”. An expected 
amount of breakage is estimated by management 
based on the historical experience of customers’ 
utilisation and expected future utilisation pattern of the 
Group’s prepaid services and is recognised as revenue 
in proportion to the pattern of services provided to 
customers.

We focused on th is area due to the est imat ion 
of breakage is inherently subjective and requires 
significant management judgements.

— We tested the calculation of the amount of revenue 
recognised during the reporting period and the 
amount of revenue deferred as at the end of the 
reporting period, on a sample basis, with reference 
to the terms of the prepaid service contracts, 
proceeds received and under ly ing t reatment 
service records. This mainly involved:

a. Agreeing the contract sums stipulated in 
the service contracts to the bank receipt 
records;

b. Agreeing the number and type of treatments 
stipulated in the service contracts to the 
treatment service records;

c. Checking the number and type of utilised 
treatments shown in the treatment service 
records to the corresponding documents 
acknowledged by the respective customers;

d. Reca lcu la t i ng the amoun t  o f  revenue 
recognised based on the number and type 
of treatments utilised;

e. Recalcu lat ing the amount o f breakage 
recognised based on the proport ion of 
treatments used by customers; and

f. Recalculat ing the amount of unut i l ised 
treatments for those expired contracts as at 
the end of the reporting period that could be 
recognised as revenue based on the terms 
of the corresponding treatment service 
contracts.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition from provision of therapy 
services 

— We assessed the reasonableness of management’s 
estimate on breakage by (i) testing, on a sample 
basis, the accuracy of the histor ical data of 
cus tomers ’  u t i l i sa t ion used by management 
to develop the est imate against the relevant 
historical utilisation records; and (ii) assessing 
the appropriateness of the key assumptions of 
expected future utilisation rate by comparing the 
expected future utilisation rate to the historical 
utilisation rate and evaluating whether the basis of 
their differences, if any, indicate any management 
bias.

— We eva lua ted the  ou tcome o f  p r i o r  pe r i od 
a s s e s s m e n t  o f  b r e a k a g e  t o  a s s e s s  t h e 
effectiveness of management’s estimation process.

Based upon the procedures per formed, we found 
management’s judgements and estimates used in the 
recognition of revenue from provision of therapy services 
to be supportable by available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the 
information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILIT IES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

A U D I T O R’S R E S P O N S I B I L I T I E S F O R T H E A U D I T O F T H E C O N S O L I D A T E D 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of 
Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for 
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify	 and	 assess	 the	 risks	 of	material	misstatement	 of	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements,	 whether	 due	 to	
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain	 an	 understanding	 of	 internal	 control	 relevant	 to	 the	 audit	 in	 order	 to	 design	 audit	 procedures	 that	 are	
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate	 the	 appropriateness	 of	 accounting	 policies	 used	 and	 the	 reasonableness	 of	 accounting	 estimates	 and	
related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude	 on	 the	 appropriateness	 of	 the	 directors’	 use	 of	 the	 going	 concern	 basis	 of	 accounting	 and,	 based	
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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•	 Evaluate	 the	 overall	 presentation,	 structure	 and	 content	 of	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements,	 including	 the	
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain	 sufficient	 appropriate	 audit	 evidence	 regarding	 the	 financial	 information	 of	 the	 entities	 or	 business	
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mak Tze Leung, William.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Note 2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 55,013 88,155
Cost of sales (58,670) (65,461)    

Gross (loss)/profit (3,657) 22,694

Other income 6 4,959 3,407
Other losses, net 7 (27,623) (57,714)
Selling and distribution expenses (12,184) (15,897)
Administrative expenses (85,533) (113,974)    

Operating loss 8 (124,038) (161,484)
Finance costs 9 (12,181) (4,283)    

Loss before income tax (136,219) (165,767)
Income tax credit 12 4,334 1,454    

Loss for the year (131,885) (164,313)    

Loss for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company (109,602) (168,425)
Non-controlling interests (22,283) 4,112    

(131,885) (164,313)    

Loss per share for loss attributable to equity holders of the 
Company:
Basic and diluted loss per share 13 (21.65) Cents (33.27) Cents    

Loss for the year (131,885) (164,313)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (10,470) 3,635
Release of exchange reserve upon liquidation of a subsidiary 978 —    

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (9,492) 3,635    

Total comprehensive loss for the year (141,377) (160,678)    

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company (112,752) (164,800)
Non-controlling interests (28,625) 4,122    

(141,377) (160,678)    

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompany notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2020

Note 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 15 11,787 24,668
Right-of-use assets 16 2,349 22,315
Intangible assets 17 18,266 53,217
Deposits 21 1,196 3,764    

33,598 103,964    

Current assets
Inventories 19 10,801 27,867
Tax recoverable 732 —
Trade receivables 20 6,487 15,627
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 21 12,636 7,120
Restricted bank deposits 22 19,017 18,970
Cash and cash equivalents 22 57,966 32,708    

107,639 102,292    

Total assets 141,237 206,256    

Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share capital 23 50,622 50,622
Reserves (75,226) (30,211)    

(24,604) 20,411
Non-controlling interests (93,939) 6,607    

Total (deficits)/equity (118,543) 27,018    
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2020

Note 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Deferred taxation 28 — 3,482
Other borrowings 26 156,478 53,930
Amounts due to directors 34 17,067 10,617
Interest payable 25 15,097 —
Lease liabilities 16 1,874 11,064    

190,516 79,093    

Current liabilities
Trade payables 24 1,521 7,350
Accruals and other payables 25 25,681 38,738
Other borrowings 26 — 2,000
Tax payables — 1,281
Contract liabilities 27 32,529 38,574
Lease liabilities 16 9,533 12,202    

69,264 100,145    

Total liabilities 259,780 179,238    

Total equity and liabilities 141,237 206,256    

Net (liabilities)/assets (118,543) 27,018    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 59 to 124 were approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2021 
and were signed on its behalf.

Su Zhituan Sun Ziqiang
Chairman, Director Director

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompany notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Share
capital — 
ordinary

shares
Share

premium
Contributed

surplus
Translation

reserve

Share
option

reserve
Accumulated

losses Sub-total

Non-
controlling

interests

Total
equity/

(deficits)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note a)

Balance at 1 January 2019 50,622 488,163 27,141 (446) 21,246 (405,691) 181,035 5,425 186,460
(Loss)/profit for the year — — — — — (168,425) (168,425) 4,112 (164,313)
Other comprehensive income for the year:

Exchange differences on translation of 
foreign operations — — — 3,625 — — 3,625 10 3,635          

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year — — — 3,625 — (168,425) (164,800) 4,122 (160,678)          

Equity-settled share-based compensation — — — — 4,176 — 4,176 — 4,176
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests — — — — — — — (2,940) (2,940)          

Balance at 31 December 2019 and  
at 1 January 2020 50,622 488,163 27,141 3,179 25,422 (574,116) 20,411 6,607 27,018

Loss for the year — — — — — (109,602) (109,602) (22,283) (131,885)
Other comprehensive loss for the year:

Exchange differences on translation of 
foreign operations — — — (4,128) — — (4,128) (6,342) (10,470)

Release of exchange reserve upon liquidation of 
a subsidiary — — — 978 — — 978 — 978          

Total comprehensive loss for the year — — — (3,150) — (109,602) (112,752) (28,625) (141,377)          

Equity-settled share-based compensation — — — — 250 — 250 — 250
Change in ownership interests in a subsidiary 

without change of control (Note 35) — — — (3,618) — 71,105 67,487 (62,121) 5,366
Forfeiture of share options — — — — (22,904) 22,904 — — —
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests — — — — — — — (9,800) (9,800)          

Balance at 31 December 2020 50,622 488,163 27,141 (3,589) 2,768 (589,709) (24,604) (93,939) (118,543)          

Note:

(a) Contributed surplus

With effect from 22 April 2014, the Company had been deregistered in the Cayman Islands and duly continued in Bermuda 
as an exempted company under the laws of Bermuda (the “Change in Domicile”). Contributed surplus represents the amount 
transferred from share premium for the purpose of setting off against the accumulated losses pursuant to the Companies Act 
1981 of Bermuda and the special resolution passed at the extraordinary general meeting held on 28 February 2013 as a result 
of the Change in Domicile and related capital reorganisation.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompany notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Note 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash used in operations 33 (47,232) (44,313)
Hong Kong profits tax paid (2,403) (2,032)
Canada corporate tax refunded 1,338 1,425    

Net cash used in operating activities (48,297) (44,920)    

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 107 222
Placement of restricted bank deposits (47) (241)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 33 12 580
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (849) (7,657)
Loan to a third party 21 (3,800) —    

Net cash used in investing activities (4,577) (7,096)    

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid — (11)
Payment for lease liabilities (including interest) (10,858) (11,571)
Proceeds from other borrowings 98,747 56,449
Repayment of other borrowings — (53)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (9,800) (2,940)    

Net cash generated from financing activities 78,089 41,874    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 25,215 (10,142)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 32,708 43,604
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 43 (754)    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 22 57,966 32,708    

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompany notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and with effect from 22 April 
2014, the Company deregistered in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda. The address of its registered 
office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. Pursuant to a special resolution passed 
by the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 2 June 2020, the English name of 
the Company is changed from “SuperRobotics Limited” to “SuperRobotics Holdings Limited” and the Chinese 
name of the Company is changed from “超人智能有限公司 ” to “超人智能控股有限公司 ”. The change of name 
became effective on 5 June 2020.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the sale of beauty products, 
provision of therapy services and provision of engineering products and related services.

The Company’s shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$’000), 
unless otherwise stated.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated. The consolidated financial statements are for the Group consisting of SuperRobotics Holdings Limited 
and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance 
Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement 
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial 
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following new and amended standards for the first time for the annual 
reporting period commencing 1 January 2020:

HKFRS 1 and HKAS 8 
(Amendment)

Definition of Material

HKFRS 3 (Amendment) Definition of a Business
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and  

HKAS 39 (Amendment)
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting 2018

Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

The Group also elected to adopt the following amendments early.

HKFRS 16 (Amendment) COVID-19-Related Rent Concession

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods 
and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods, except for the Amendment 
to HKFRS 16 set out above (see also Note 2.2).

(b) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory 
for 31 December 2020 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. These 
standards are not expected to have a material impact on the entity in the current or future 
reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

(c) Going concern 

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group incurred a net loss of HK$131,885,000 and 
had a net cash used in operating activities of HK$48,297,000. As at 31 December 2020, the Group 
had a shareholders’ deficits of HK$118,543,000 and net current assets of HK$38,375,000 including 
cash and cash equivalents of HK$57,966,000 and long-term borrowings of HK$156,478,000. 
Subsequent to the year end in January 2021, the Group repaid approximately HK$47,432,000 
long-term borrowings which further reduced the cash and cash equivalents of the Group.

The Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) outbreak that led to a series of severe administrative 
control and precautionary measures taken by governments and authorities in Mainland China and 
Hong Kong disrupted the operations of the Group’s robotics business in Mainland China and its 
beauty business in Hong Kong.

The factory of the Group’s robotics business was closed for an extended period after Chinese New 
Year and was only able to gradually resume normal operations in March 2020. Demand and sales 
order also slowed down afterwards during 2020. For the Group’s beauty therapy services, the 
operations had been suspended intermittently throughout the year 2020 by the government which 
brought significant adverse impact on the business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c) Going concern (continued)

The duration and intensity of the COVID-19 outbreak and related containment measures remained 
uncertain. If the present situation in respect of the COVID-19 outbreak continued and the 
restrictions and control measures are prolonged, the Group’s operating performance and cash 
flows may continue to be adversely affected.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant 
doubt about the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company have given careful consideration 
to the future liquidity and performance of the Group and its available sources of financing in 
assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going 
concern. Certain plans and measures have been taken to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to 
improve its financial position which include, but not limited to, the following:

(i) in addition to the borrowings obtained from 惠州市金達勝投資有限公司 (Huizhou Jindasheng 
Investment Limited or “HJIL”), a then independent third party amounting to RMB37,000,000 
(equivalent to HK$43,875,000) under a facility for 2 years, which has been extended to 4 
years during the year ended 31 December 2020 (“Facility I”), the Group has entered into 
another borrowing facility agreement with HJIL on 1 March 2020 for a borrowing facility 
with a limit of RMB80 million that bears interest at 15% per annum, secured by the Group’s 
entire equity interest in a subsidiary, 深圳市安澤智能機器人有限公司 (“Anzer”) and repayable 
24 months from date of draw down (“Facility II”). Interest shall be payable upon repayment 
of principal under both Facility I and Facility II. HJIL subsequently became a non-controlling 
shareholder of Anzer in June 2020 (see Note 35 for more details). As at 31 December 
2020, drawn downs under Facility I and Facility II as long-term borrowings amounted 
to RMB37,000,000 (equivalent to HK$43,875,000) and RMB76,638,000 (equivalent to 
HK$90,877,000) respectively. In early January 2021, the Group repaid RMB40,000,000 
(equivalent to HK$47,432,000) of the long-term borrowings under Facility II but further took 
out an aggregate amount of approximately RMB7,500,000 (equivalent to HK$8,894,000) up 
to the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements. As at 31 March 2021, 
approximately RMB35,862,000 (equivalent to HK$42,525,000) is still available from Facility 
II. It is expected that borrowings will continue to be available for drawn down under this 
facility as and when needed in the next twelve months;

(ii) the Group is closely monitoring the development of COVID-19 and continuously assessing 
the impact to the Group’s operation. The Group has already scaled down its robotics 
business in Mainland China and relocated its research center in Canada to Mainland China 
to reduce costs during the year ended 31 December 2020. For the beauty therapy business, 
the Group is also taking measures to contain operating costs to mitigate the negative 
impact; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c) Going concern (continued)

(iii) the Group will continue to take active measures to improve profitability and cash flows 
through various initiatives, such as, leveraging capital investments made in automation to 
reduce production costs, reduce the material costs through the use of in-house developed 
components and software, control the staff costs through streamlining headcounts; 
purchase equipment through leasing arrangements and building stronger relationships with 
major customers to secure more recurring orders to improve the Group’s cash flows from 
operations.

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projection covering a period 
of twelve months from 31 December 2020 prepared by the management and have considered the 
possible downward changes in its operating performance. They are of the opinion that the Group 
will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial obligations as 
and when they fall due within twelve months from 31 December 2020. Accordingly, the directors 
are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going 
concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainty exists as to whether management of the Group 
is able to achieve its plans and measures as described above. Whether the Group will be able 
to continue as a going concern would depend upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate 
financing and operating cash flows through:

(i) the successful draw down of funds from the above-mentioned Facility II as and when 
needed; and

(ii) the successful implementation of business plans for its robotics business and beauty 
therapy business to mitigate the negative impact of COVID-19 and improve operating 
results and generate cash inflows.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made 
to write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide 
for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current 
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments 
have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

The Group has early adopted Amendment to HKFRS 16 — COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions 
retrospectively from 1 January 2020. The amendment provides an optional practical expedient allowing 
lessees to elect not to assess whether a rent concession related to COVID-19 is a lease modification. 
Lessees adopting this election may account for qualifying rent concessions in the same way as they 
would if they were not lease modifications. The practical expedient only applies to rent concessions 
occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and only if all of the following conditions 
are met: (a) the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is 
substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the 
change; (b) any reduction in lease payments affects only payments due on or before 30 June 2021; and 
(c) there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group has applied the practical expedient to all qualifying COVID-19-related rent concessions. Rent 
concessions totalling HK$936,000 have been accounted for as negative variable lease payments and 
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 
2020, with a corresponding adjustment to the lease liabilities. There is no impact on the opening balance 
of equity at 1 January 2020.

2.3 Consolidation

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The 
Group controls an entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct 
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combination by the Group 
(Note 2.3(b)).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of financial position respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Consolidation (continued)

(b) Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless 
of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

•	 fair	values	of	 the	assets	transferred;

•	 liabilities	 incurred	to	 the	former	owners	of	 the	acquired	business;

•	 equity	 interests	 issued	by	the	Group;

•	 fair	 value	 of	 any	 asset	 or	 liability	 resulting	 from	 a	 contingent	 consideration	 arrangement;	
and

•	 fair	value	of	any	pre-existing	equity	 interest	 in	 the	subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of 
the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. The excess of the:

•	 consideration	transferred;

•	 amount	of	any	non-controlling	 interest	 in	 the	acquired	entity;	and

•	 acquisition-date	fair	value	of	any	previous	equity	 interest	 in	 the	acquired	entity.

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts 
are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is 
recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future 
are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the 
entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained 
from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions. Contingent consideration 
is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are 
subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the 
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the 
acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or 
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Consolidation (continued)

(c) Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control 
as transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an 
adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect 
their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment 
to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate 
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because of a loss of 
control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its 
fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes 
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest 
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly 
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of 
equity as specified/ permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

(d) Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct 
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on 
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend from 
these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the 
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial 
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s 
net assets including goodwill.

2.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources 
and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the executive directors 
who collectively make strategic decisions.

2.5 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional 
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”), 
which is the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation currency.
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2.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement 
of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognised in profit or loss. They 
are deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment 
hedges or are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and all other foreign exchange gains 
and losses are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a net basis 
within “administrative expense”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets 
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, 
translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and 
translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as fair value through 
other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive income.

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency 
are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

•	 assets	and	 liabilities	 for	each	statement	of	 financial	position	presented	are	 translated	at	 the	
closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

•	 income	 and	 expenses	 for	 each	 statement	 of	 comprehensive	 income	 are	 translated	 at	
average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative 
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses 
are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

•	 all	 resulting	exchange	differences	are	recognised	 in	other	comprehensive	 income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in 
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such 
investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or 
any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences 
are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
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2.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a 
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign 
operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint venture that includes a foreign 
operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a 
foreign operation), all of the currency translation differences accumulated in equity in respect of 
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the Group losing control over a subsidiary 
that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share of accumulated currency translation 
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. 
For all other partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s ownership interest in associates 
or joint ventures that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the 
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange difference is reclassified to profit or loss.

2.6 Intangible assets

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 2.3. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included 
in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually, or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried 
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include 
the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation 
is made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units 
are identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, 
being the operating segments (Note 5).

(b) Other intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in business combination are identified and recognised separately 
from goodwill where they satisfy the definition of intangible assets and their fair values can be 
measured reliably. Such intangible assets are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition 
date. Other intangible assets have finite useful lives and are subsequently carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line 
method to allocate the costs over their estimated useful lives of 5 years.
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2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component 
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual 
values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Plant and machinery 20%-33%
Leasehold improvement 20%-33%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 14%-33%
Motor vehicles 20%-25%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with carrying amount. These 
are recognised within ‘other losses, net’ in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation 
and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of 
assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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2.9 Financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as financial assets at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and 
the contractual terms of the cash flows.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing 
those assets changes.

(b) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on 
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when 
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred 
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

(c) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a 
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at 
FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for 
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classified its debt 
instruments as financial assets at amortised cost.

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from 
these financial assets is included in other income using the effective interest rate method. Any 
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other 
losses, net together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as 
separate line item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(d) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt 
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which 
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see 
Note 3.1(b) for further details.
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2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement 
of financial position where the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised 
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be 
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the 
Company or its subsidiaries or the counterparty.

2.11 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, 
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being 
allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory 
on the basis of weighted average method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to 
make the sale.

2.12 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary 
course of business. If collection of trade receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal 
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented 
as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they 
contain significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the 
trade receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them 
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. See Note 20 for further information 
about the Group’s accounting for trade receivables and Note 3.1(b) for a description of the Group’s 
impairment policies.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
includes cash on hand and deposits held at call with financial institutions.

2.14 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of 
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless 
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are recognised initially at their fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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2.15 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of financial position when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount 
of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration 
paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as 
finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

2.16 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete 
and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure 
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income 
based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets 
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries 
operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and 
considers whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. 
The Group measures its tax balances either based on the most likely amount or the expected 
value, depending on which method provides a better prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.
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2.17 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated 
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the 
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the 
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is 
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is 
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the 
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the company is able 
to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation 
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable 
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Investment allowances and similar tax incentives. Companies within the Group may be entitled 
to claim special tax deductions for investments in qualifying assets or in relation to qualifying 
expenditure (e.g. the Research and Development Tax Incentive). The Group accounts for such 
allowances as tax credits, which means that the allowance reduces income tax payable and 
current tax expense.

2.18 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.



78SuperRobotics Holdings Limited ● Annual Report 2020 Annual Report 2020 ● SuperRobotics Holdings Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when they accrue to employees. A provision 
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees 
up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognized until the time of leave.

(b) Pension obligations

The Group operates a number of defined contribution plans in Hong Kong, the Mainland China and 
Canada. Under the defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to publicly or privately 
administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group 
has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are 
recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised 
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

(c) Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognized as a liability when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a reliable 
estimate of the obligation can be made. Liabilities of bonus plan are expected to be settled within 
12 months and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

2.20 Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees. Information relating to these schemes is 
set out in Note 29.

Employee options

The fair value of options granted is recognised as an employee benefits expense with a corresponding 
increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the 
options granted:

•	 including	any	market	performance	conditions	(e.g.	 the	entity’s	share	price);

•	 excluding	 the	 impact	 of	 any	 service	 and	 non-market	 performance	 vesting	 conditions	 (e.g.	
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining employees of the entity over a specified time 
period); and

•	 including	 the	 impact	 of	 any	 non-vesting	 conditions	 (e.g.	 the	 requirement	 for	 employees	 to	 save	 or	
hold shares for a specific period of time).
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2.20 Share-based payments (continued)

Employee options (continued)

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the 
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its estimates 
of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting and service 
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a 
corresponding adjustment to equity.

2.21 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations are recognised when the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions 
are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised 
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations 
may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditures 
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to 
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is 
recognised as interest expense.

2.22 Revenue recognition

(a) Sales of engineering products

Sales of engineering products are recognised when control of products has transferred, being 
when the products are delivered to the customers. Delivery occurs when the products have been 
shipped to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to 
the customers, and either the customers has accepted the products in accordance with the sales 
contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that all 
criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price specified in the contract, net of the 
estimated volume discounts. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide for the 
discounts, using the expected value method and revenue is only recognised to the extent that 
it is highly probable that a significant reversal will not occur. No significant element of financing 
is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term stated in the contract, which is 
consistent with market practice. The Group’s obligation to repair or replace faulty products under 
the standard warranty terms is recognised as a provision.
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2.22 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a) Sales of engineering products (continued)

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time that the 
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the payment is 
due.

(b) Sale of beauty products

The Group operates a beauty centre selling beauty products. Revenue from the sales of beauty 
products are recognised when the Group sells a product to the customer.

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when the customer purchases the beauty 
products and takes delivery in store. Retail sales are usually settled in cash or by credit card.

(c) Revenue from therapy services

Revenue from the provision of therapy services are recognised in the accounting period when the 
services have been rendered to customers. Receipt of proceeds in respect of therapy treatment 
packages for which the relevant services have not been rendered are deferred and recognised as 
“Contract liabilities” in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Most of the Group’s therapy services are sold on a prepaid basis. The service period of a prepaid 
package is mainly within one year and the Group has a right to extend the service period at its 
discretion based on the circumstances. Prepaid services are not refundable and the Group’s 
customers may not utilise all of their contractual rights within the service period and these 
unutilised services are referred to as “breakage”. An expected amount of breakage is estimated 
by management based on the historical experience of customers’ utilisation and expected future 
utilisation pattern of the Group’s prepaid services and is recognised as revenue in proportion to 
the pattern of services provided to customers.

After the recognition of revenue from treatments provided and breakage, any residual deferred 
revenue at the end of the relevant service period, after taking into account any extension that 
may be granted by the Group at its discretion, are fully recognised as revenue in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. Services which are not sold on a prepaid basis is recognised 
in full when the services have been rendered to customers.

2.23 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that 
the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the profit or loss over the period 
necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.
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2.24 Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost calculated using the effective interest method is 
recognised in profit or loss as part of other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset except for financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired 
financial assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after 
deduction of the loss allowance).

2.25 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the 
leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates the consideration in 
the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities 
include the net present value of the following lease payments:

•	 fixed	payments	(including	 in-substance	fixed	payments),	 less	any	 lease	 incentives	receivable;	and

•	 payments	of	penalties	for	 terminating	the	 lease,	 if	 the	 lease	term	reflects	 the	Group	exercising	that	
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the 
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot 
be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental 
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds 
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment 
with similar terms, security and conditions.
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2.25 Leases (continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

•	 where	 possible,	 uses	 recent	 third-party	 financing	 received	 by	 the	 individual	 lessee	 as	 a	 starting	
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received;

•	 uses	a	build-up	approach	 that	starts	with	a	 risk-free	 interest	 rate	adjusted	 for	credit	 risk	 for	 leases	
held by the Company, which does not have recent third party financing; and

•	 makes	adjustments	specific	 to	 the	 lease,	e.g.	 term,	country,	currency	and	security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or 
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

•	 the	amount	of	 the	 initial	measurement	of	 lease	 liability;

•	 any	 lease	 payments	 made	 at	 or	 before	 the	 commencement	 date	 less	 any	 lease	 incentives	
received;

•	 any	 initial	direct	costs;	and

•	 restoration	costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease 
term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets 
are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with 
a lease term of 12 months or less without a purchase option. Low-value assets comprise small items of 
office furniture.

2.26 Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer 
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end 
of the reporting period.



SuperRobotics Holdings Limited ● Annual Report 202083

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange 
risk and cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk 
management policy focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies 
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, Mainland China (the “PRC”) and Canada with 
transactions settled in HK$, Renminbi (“RMB”), Canadian dollars (“CAD”) and US dollars 
(“USD”). Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised 
assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the 
individual group companies and net investment in foreign operations.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, most of the financial assets and liabilities of the 
Group’s subsidiaries are denominated in their functional currencies. Hence, the Directors 
of the Company consider the Group does not have any material foreign exchange risk 
exposure. No sensitivity analysis is presented.

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest 
bearing assets and liabilities. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the Group to fair 
value interest rate risk. In the opinion of the Directors, the expected change in fair values 
as a results of change in market interest rates will not be significant, thus no sensitivity 
analysis is presented.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will impact cash 
flows arising from variable rate financial instruments. The Group’s assets and liabilities, 
which bear variable interest rates mainly, include cash at bank and restricted bank deposits. 
The Directors does not anticipate significant change in cash flow as a results of change in 
market interest rates, thus no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Management manages the interest rate risk exposure through regular review to determine 
the funding strategy as appropriate to its current business profile.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk

(i) Risk management

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables, deposits and other 
receivables, restricted bank deposits and cash at bank included in the consolidated 
statement of financial position, which represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk in relation to its financial assets. Management has a credit policy in place and the 
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Company’s cash and restricted bank deposits are placed with reputable banks and 
financial institutions. The Company reviews regularly the recoverable amount of other 
receivables to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. 
For trade receivables from customers, management assesses the credit quality of each 
individual major customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and 
other factors.

(ii) Impairment of financial assets

The Company has two types of financial assets that are subject to the expected credit loss 
model:

•	 Trade	receivables

•	 Other	 financial	assets	carried	at	amortised	cost.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 
9, management considers that the impairment loss is immaterial.

(I) Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit 
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based 
on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. Future cash flows for 
each group receivables are estimated on the basis of historical loss experience, 
adjusted to reflect the effects of current conditions as well as forward looking 
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to 
settle the receivables. The expected credit losses for collectively assessed trade 
receivables are not material.

Trade receivables in dispute are assessed individually for impairment allowance and 
determined whether specific provisions are required. Trade receivables are written 
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The expected credit loss 
in respect of individually assessed trade receivables as at 31 December 2020 are 
assessed to be approximately HK$715,000 (2019: HK$674,000).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(II) Other financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Group applies a 12-month expected credit loss on other financial assets at 
amortised cost. Management considered among other factors, analysed historical 
pattern and concluded that the expected credit loss for other financial assets 
at amortised cost as at 31 December 2020 was mainly relating to amount due 
from a former subsidiary amounting to approximately HK$241,420,000 (2019: 
HK$241,420,000), which has been fully impaired (Note 21).

(c) Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk rests with the Board, which has built an appropriate liquidity 
risk management framework to meet the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity 
management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate level of 
cash and cash equivalents and by continuously monitoring forecast and matching the maturity 
profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative 
financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of the 
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The 
tables include both interest and principal cash flows.

Less 
than

1 year

Between
1 and 5

years

Total un-
discounted
cash flows

Total
carrying
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December 2020
Trade payables 1,521 — 1,521 1,521
Accruals and other payables 11,203 15,097 26,300 26,300
Amounts due to directors — 17,067 17,067 17,067
Other borrowings — 213,898 213,898 156,478
Lease liabilities 10,025 1,885 11,910 11,407     

22,749 247,947 270,696 212,773     

At 31 December 2019
Trade payables 7,350 — 7,350 7,350
Accruals and other payables 33,046 — 33,046 33,046
Amounts due to directors — 10,617 10,617 10,617
Other borrowings 2,096 63,058 65,154 55,930
Lease liabilities 12,572 11,375 23,947 23,266     

55,064 85,050 140,114 130,209     
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to safeguard that the entities in the Group 
will be able to continue as a going concern and maintain healthy ratios in order to support its business 
and enhance shareholder’s value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue of new shares and 
repurchase of shares as well as obtain borrowings from banks or other third parties. The Group’s capital 
management objective, policies or processes were unchanged from prior year.

The Group is not subject to any external imposed capital requirements.

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. 
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-current borrowings as shown in the 
consolidated statement of financial position), less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated 
as “Total (deficits)/equity”, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt. The 
net debt amounts and gearing ratios as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 were as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Total borrowings 156,478 55,930
Less: cash and cash equivalents (57,966) (32,708)   

Net debt 98,512 23,222   

Total capital (20,031) (50,240)   

Gearing ratio N/A 46%   

Note:

As at 31 December 2020, there was a net deficit on shareholders’ equity.

3.3 Fair value estimation

According to HKFRS 13, financial instruments measured in the consolidated statement of financial 
position at fair value are required to disclose the fair value measurements by level of the following fair 
value measurement hierarchy:

Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

Level 3 — Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 
unobservable inputs).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020, no financial assets or liabilities are measured at fair 
value.

There were no transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year ended 31 December 2020.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by 
definition, will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the 
Group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated by the Group and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

(a) Impairment of goodwill and other non-financial assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment (Note 17). Non-financial assets 
including property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The 
recoverable amounts have been determined based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs to 
sell. These calculations require the use of judgments and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether 
an event has occurred that may indicate that the related asset values may not be recoverable; (ii) 
whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher 
of fair value less costs to sell and net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based 
upon the continued use of the asset in the business; (iii) the selection of the most appropriate valuation 
technique, e.g. the market approach, the income approach, as well as a combination of approaches, 
including the adjusted net asset method; and (iv) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in 
preparing cash flow projections including whether these cash flow projections are discounted using an 
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected by management in assessing impairment, including 
the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could materially affect 
the net present value used in the impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s financial condition 
and results of operations. If there is a significant change in the projected performance and resulting 
future cash flow projections, it may be necessary to reverse or provide further impairment charge to the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(b) Revenue recognition from provision of therapy services

The Group’s revenue from provision of therapy services is recognised when the treatment services are 
provided to the customers which included an expected amount of breakage estimated by management 
based on the historical experience of customers’ utilisation and expected future utilisation pattern of the 
Group’s prepaid services and is recognised as revenue in proportion to the pattern of services provided 
to customers. The actual subsequent utilisation by the customers may be higher or lower than the amount 
of breakage estimated at the end of each reporting period, which would affect the revenue and profit 
recognised in current and future years.

(c) Impairment of inventories

The net realizable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, 
less estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based on the current 
market condition and the historical experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It 
could change significantly as a result of changes in customer taste and competitor actions in response to 
severe industry cycle. Management reassesses these estimates at each balance sheet date.

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments have been determined based on the information reported to and reviewed by 
the executive directors, being the Group’s chief operating decision-maker, which are used for the purposes of 
assessing performance and making strategic decisions. The Group’s operating segments are structured and 
managed separately according to the nature of their operations, and the products and services they provide. 
Each of the Group’s operating segments represents a strategic business unit that offers products and services 
which are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other operating segments. The Group 
currently has three operating segments:

(a) Sale of beauty products;

(b) Provision of therapy services; and

(c) Provision of engineering products and related services (Note)

Note:

For the engineering products, the Group offers robotic products. For the provision of engineering related services, the Group 
provides equipment installation, support and maintenance services for robotics and automation systems.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, results, assets, liabilities and other selected financial information by 
operating segment are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Sale of
beauty

products

Provision
of therapy

services

Provision of
engineering

products
and related

services Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue
Segment revenue 1,299 30,960 22,754 55,013     

Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time 1,299 30,960 22,754 55,013     

1,299 30,960 22,754 55,013     

Results
Segment (loss)/profit (5,515) 4,446 (100,733) (101,802)    

Interest income from bank deposits (Note 6) 107
Finance costs (Note 9) (12,181)
Unallocated corporate income 9,034
Unallocated corporate expenses (31,377) 

Loss before income tax (136,219)
Income tax credit (Note 12) 4,334 

Loss for the year (131,885) 
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

At 31 December 2020

Sale of
beauty

products

Provision
of therapy

services

Provision of
engineering

products
and related

services Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities

Assets
Segment assets for operating segments 4,893 58,031 75,905 138,829
Unallocated corporate assets 2,408 

Consolidated total assets 141,237 

Liabilities
Segment liabilities for operating segments 5 29,852 180,588 210,445
Unallocated corporate liabilities 49,335 

Consolidated total liabilities 259,780 

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Sale of
beauty

products

Provision
of therapy

services

Provision of
engineering

products
and related

services Unallocated Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other segment information
Amount included in the measure of  

segment results and segment assets
Additions to property, plant and equipment — 792 57 — 849
Amortisation of other intangible assets — — 6,730 — 6,730
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment — 1,230 5,957 261 7,448
Impairment of goodwill — — 21,037 — 21,037
Impairment of other intangible assets — — 6,047 — 6,047
Impairment of property, plant and equipment — — 6,194 — 6,194
Impairment of right-of-use assets — — 7,862 — 7,862
Share-based compensation — — 250 — 250      
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, results, assets, liabilities and other selected financial information by 
operating segment are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Sale of
beauty

products

Provision
of therapy

services

Provision of
engineering

products
and related

services Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue
Segment revenue 2,503 49,986 35,666 88,155     

Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time 2,503 49,986 35,666 88,155     

2,503 49,986 35,666 88,155     

Results
Segment (loss)/profit (2,912) 10,659 (147,176) (139,429)    

Interest income from bank deposits (Note 6) 222
Finance costs (Note 9) (4,283)
Unallocated corporate income 3,185
Unallocated corporate expenses (25,462) 

Loss before income tax (165,767)
Income tax credit (Note 12) 1,454 

Loss for the year (164,313) 
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

At 31 December 2019

Sale of
beauty

products

Provision
of therapy

services

Provision of
engineering

products
and related

services Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities

Assets
Segment assets for operating segments 257 65,430 137,824 203,511
Unallocated corporate assets 2,745 

Consolidated total assets 206,256 

Liabilities
Segment liabilities for operating segments 627 38,942 65,591 105,160
Unallocated corporate liabilities 74,078 

Consolidated total liabilities 179,238 

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Sale of
beauty

products

Provision
of therapy

services

Provision of
engineering

products
and related

services Unallocated Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other segment information
Amount included in the measure of segment  

results and segment assets
Additions to property, plant and equipment — 115 7,542 — 7,657
Amortisation of other intangible assets — — 6,866 — 6,866
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment — 1,356 6,012 273 7,641
Impairment of goodwill — — 57,144 — 57,144
Share-based compensation — — 4,176 — 4,176      
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no inter- 
segment sales in the current year (2019: Nil).

Segments results represent ( loss incurred)/profit earned by each segment without al locating certain 
administration items including directors’ emoluments, other income, partial other losses, finance costs and 
income tax credit. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision-makers for the purposes of 
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:

— all assets are allocated to operating segments other than partial property, plant and equipment, partial 
deposits, prepayments and other receivables, restricted bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents 
that are not attributable to individual segments. Assets used jointly by individual segments are allocated 
on the basis of the revenues earned by individual segments; and

— all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than partial accruals and other payables, tax 
payables and other borrowings that are not attributable to individual segments.

Entity-wide information

Breakdown of the revenue from all services is as follows:

2020 2019

Analysis of revenue by category HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales of beauty products 1,299 2,503
Provision of therapy services 30,960 49,986
Provision of engineering products and related services 22,754 35,666   

55,013 88,155   

Geographical information

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, Mainland China and Canada. The Group’s revenue from external 
customers and information about its non-current assets by geographical location are detailed below:

Revenue from external 
customers Non-current assets

2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 32,259 52,489 22,347 11,142
Mainland China 18,764 34,564 10,853 31,627
Canada 3,990 1,102 398 61,195     

55,013 88,155 33,598 103,964     
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from one customer (2019: one customer) from “provision of engineering products and related services” 
operating segment, individually contributing over 16% of the total revenue of the Group, is HK$8,922,000 (2019: 
HK$27,063,000).

6 OTHER INCOME

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Management fee income 120 120
Interest income from bank deposits 107 222
Sundry income (Note i) 4,732 3,065   

4,959 3,407   

Note:

(i) Sundry income mainly includes government grants and subsidies of HK$4,015,000 (2019: HK$2,686,000). There are no 
unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these grants and subsidies.

7 OTHER LOSSES, NET

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net (5) (328)
Impairment of goodwill (Note 17) (21,037) (57,144)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (Note 15) (6,194) —
Impairment of right-of-use assets (Note 16) (7,862) —
Write off of property, plant and equipment (571) —
Forfeiture of rental deposits (225) (338)
Gain on liquidation of a subsidiary (Note) 8,310 —
Others (39) —   

(27,623) (57,714)   

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a subsidiary was liquidated resulting in a gain on liquidation of HK$8,310,000.
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8 OPERATING LOSS

Operating loss has been arrived at after charging:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Auditor’s remuneration
— audit services 1,580 1,580
— non-audit services 54 54

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 7,448 7,641
Amortisation of other intangible assets (included in cost of sales) (Note 17) 6,730 6,866
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) 11,038 11,423
Impairment of other intangible assets (included in cost of sales) 6,047 —
Provision for impairment of inventories (Note 19) 4,303 306
Write-off of inventories 4,588 —
Operating lease rentals in respect of rental premises 1,823 3,681
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) (Note 10) 65,130 74,629   

9 FINANCE COSTS

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 16) 696 1,204
Interest expense on other borrowings 11,485 3,068
Bank charges — 11   

12,181 4,283   
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10 STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other allowances 64,123 64,387
Pension costs — defined contribution plans (Note 32) 757 6,066
Equity-settled share-based compensation (Note 29) 250 4,176   

65,130 74,629   

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year include three (2019: three) 
directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 11. The emoluments payable to the 
remaining two (2019: two) individuals during the year are as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other allowances 4,738 6,500
Bonus 3,600 —
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 18 36   

8,356 6,536   

The emoluments of the afore-mentioned individuals fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals
2020 2019

Emolument bands (in HK dollar)
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 — —
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 1 1
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 — —
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 — 1
HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000 1 —   

2 2   
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11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

Fees Salary
Discretionary 

bonuses
Pension 

costs Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

For the year ended  
31 December 2020

Executive Directors
Mr. Su Zhituan 3,950 — — — 3,950
Mr. Sun Ziqiang 5,000 — — — 5,000
Mr. Fu HengKe (Note (iii),(vi)) 2,083 — — — 2,083
Mr. Wu Ying (Note (iv),(viii)) — — — — —

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Fan Yu (Note (iv)) 35 — — — 35
Mr. Cheng Yu (Note (vii)) 85 — — — 85

Independent Non-Executive 
Directors

Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus 150 — — — 150
Mr. Tam B Ray, Billy 150 — — — 150
Mr. Wang Dangxiao (Note (iii)) 150 — — — 150

For the year ended  
31 December 2019

Executive Directors
Mr. Su Zhituan 3,950 — — — 3,950
Mr. Sun Ziqiang 5,000 — — — 5,000
Mr. Chen Min (Note (x), Note (v)) 845 — — — 845
Dr. Andrew Goldenberg (Note (v)) — 1,309 — — 1,309
Mr. Fu HengKe (Note (iii),(vi)) 2,861 — — — 2,861

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Cheng Yu (Note (vii)) 120 — — — 120

Independent Non-Executive 
Directors

Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus 138 — — — 138
Mr. Tam B Ray, Billy 138 — — — 138
Mr. Xie Zhichun (Note (v)) 107 — — — 107
Mr. Wang Dangxiao (Note (iii)) 88 — — — 88
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11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Notes:

(i) Emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s services as a director, whether of the Company or its 
subsidiary undertaking.

(ii) No remuneration has been paid by the Group to the Directors as an inducement to join upon joining the Group, 
or as compensation for loss of office during the current and prior years.

(iii) Appointed on 21 May 2019.

(iv) Appointed on 15 September 2020.

(v) Retired on 8 May 2019.

(vi) Resigned on 2 June 2020.

(vii) Resigned on 15 September 2020.

(viii) Resigned on 17 December 2020.

(ix) Appointed on 21 May 2019.

(x) During the year ended 31 December 2019, Mr. Chen Min waived emoluments of approximately HK$471,000.

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits and termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement benefits or termination benefits during the 
year (2019: Nil).

(c) Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company did not pay consideration to any third parties for 
making available directors’ services (2019: Nil).

(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies 
corporate by and connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of the directors, or controlled 
bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors (2019: Nil).

(e) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 34, no other significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to 
the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a 
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the 
year (2019: Nil).
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12 INCOME TAX CREDIT

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong profits tax:
— Current taxation (390) (1,819)

Canada corporation income tax incentive (note) 1,338 1,425
Deferred taxation (Note 28) 3,386 1,848   

Income tax credit 4,334 1,454   

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 8.25% on estimated assessable profits up to 
HK$2,000,000 and 16.5% on any part of assessable profits over HK$2,000,000 (2019: Same). No income 
tax has been provided for the subsidiaries in Mainland China and Canada since these subsidiaries have no 
estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

The difference between the actual income tax charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
and the amounts which would result from applying the enacted tax rates to profit before income tax can be 
reconciled as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before income tax (136,219) (165,767)   

Tax calculated at the applicable domestic income tax rates 30,841 34,210
Income not subject to tax 3,027 37
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose (6,653) (14,828)
Tax losses and other temporary differences not recognized (24,239) (19,439)
Effect of withholding taxes (Note 28) — 29
Tax incentive (note) 1,338 1,425
Tax concession 20 20   

Income tax credit 4,334 1,454   

Note:

One of the Company’s subsidiaries in Canada claimed a refundable tax credit as being a qualifying corporation for qualified 
expenditures on scientific research and experimental development performed in Ontario. The amount of HK$1,338,000 (2019: 
HK$1,425,000) of Ontario innovation tax credit was refunded by Canada Revenue Agency.
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13 LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to equity holders of the Company is based 
on the following data:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company 109,602 168,425   

2020 2019

Number of ordinary shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for  
the purpose of basic loss per share (in thousands) 506,220 506,220   

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2020 equals basic loss per share as the exercise of the 
outstanding share options would be anti-dilutive.

14 DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company do not recommend any payment of dividends for the year ended 31 December 
2020 (2019: Nil).
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant
and

machinery
Leasehold

improvement

Furniture,
fixture and
equipment

WIFI and
connection
equipment

Motor
vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
At 1 January 2019 10,511 14,154 15,865 23,519 3,408 67,457
Additions 6,308 92 1,257 — — 7,657
Disposals (20) — (6) — (1,421) (1,447)
Exchange difference (140) (28) 7 — (18) (179)       

At 31 December 2019 and  
1 January 2020 16,659 14,218 17,123 23,519 1,969 73,488

Additions 824 9 16 — — 849
Disposals — — (361) — — (361)
Write-off — (1,623) — (23,224) — (24,847)
Exchange difference 530 457 557 (295) 74 1,323       

At 31 December 2020 18,013 13,061 17,335 — 2,043 50,452       

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment

At 1 January 2019 5,719 5,713 5,987 23,519 840 41,778
Depreciation (Note 8) 1,951 2,362 2,716 — 612 7,641
Disposals (13) — (3) — (523) (539)
Exchange differences (20) (22) (8) — (10) (60)       

At 31 December 2019 and  
1 January 2020 7,637 8,053 8,692 23,519 919 48,820

Depreciation (Note 8) 2,484 2,191 2,296 — 477 7,448
Disposals — — (344) — — (344)
Write-off — (1,052) — (23,224) — (24,276)
Impairment (Note 17) 24 3,348 2,822 — — 6,194
Exchange differences 161 484 431 (295) 42 823       

At 31 December 2020 10,306 13,024 13,897 — 1,438 38,665       

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2020 7,707 37 3,438 — 605 11,787       

At 31 December 2019 9,022 6,165 8,431 — 1,050 24,668       

Depreciation expense of approximately HK$956,000 (2019: HK$1,008,000), HK$6,331,000 (2019: HK$5,946,000) 
and HK$161,000 (2019: HK$687,000) was charged to “cost of sales”, “administrative expenses” and “inventory” 
respectively.



102SuperRobotics Holdings Limited ● Annual Report 2020 Annual Report 2020 ● SuperRobotics Holdings Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lessee.

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Right-of-use assets
Buildings 2,349 22,315   

2,349 22,315   

Lease liabilities 
Current 9,533 12,202
Non-current 1,874 11,064   

11,407 23,266   

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended 31 December 2020 were HK$212,000 (2019: 
HK$6,046,000).

(ii) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows the following amounts relating to leases:

Note 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 
— Buildings 8 11,038 11,423
Interest expense (included in finance costs) 9 696 1,204
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in cost of 

goods sold and administrative expenses) 1,794 3,435
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets that are 

not shown above as short-term leases (included in 
administrative expenses) 29 72

Impairment of right-of-use assets (Note 17) 7,862 —

The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended 31 December 2020 was approximately 
HK$12,681,000 (2019: HK$16,282,000).
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16 LEASES (continued)

(iii) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouses and beauty premises. Rental contracts are typically made 
for fixed periods of 3 months to 5 years, but may have extension options as described in (iv) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and 
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the 
leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing 
purposes.

(iv) Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in a number of leases across the group. These are used 
to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the group’s operations. The 
majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable only by the group and not by the 
respective lessor.

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

Other
intangible

assets Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
At 1 January 2019 94,025 33,399 127,424
Exchange differences 3,129 1,380 4,509     

At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 97,154 34,779 131,933
Exchange differences 1,379 608 1,987     

At 31 December 2020 98,533 35,387 133,920     

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2019 — 14,037 14,037
Amortisation charge (Note 8) — 6,866 6,866
Impairment loss 57,144 — 57,144
Exchange difference — 669 669     

At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 57,144 21,572 78,716
Amortisation charge (Note 8) — 6,730 6,730
Impairment loss (Note (ii)) 21,037 6,047 27,084
Exchange difference 2,086 1,038 3,124     

At 31 December 2020 80,267 35,387 115,654     

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2020 18,266 — 18,266     

At 31 December 2019 40,010 13,207 53,217     
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment of other intangible assets of HK$6,047,000 has been included in costs of sales for the year ended 
31 December 2020.

Goodwill of HK$18,266,000 arose from the acquisition of China Honest Enterprises Limited (“China Honest”) 
was allocated to the sale of beauty products and provision of therapy services CGU (the “Beauty Products and 
Services CGU”), which are operating segments.

Goodwill arose from the acquisition of Engineering Services Inc. (“ESI”) of HK$80,267,000 was allocated to the 
provision of engineering products and related services CGU (the “Robotics CGU”).

Other intangible assets, arose from the acquisition of the ESI, represents the patents registered in various 
countries. Other intangible assets are amortised over the estimated useful life of 5 years. For the year ended 31 
December 2020, amortisation of HK$6,730,000 (2019: HK$6,866,000) has been charged to “cost of sales” in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(i) Impairment assessment of Beauty Products and Services CGU

The Group reviewed the goodwill allocated to the Beauty Products and Services CGU for impairment 
assessment as at 31 December 2020. The recoverable amount of Beauty Products and Services CGU 
is determined based on a value-in-use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on financial 
budgets approved by the directors of the Company covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount 
rate of 17.5% per annum (2019: 16.9% per annum).

The financial budgets are prepared based on a five-year business plan having considered the past 
performance, achievement of business targets, stability of core business developments and sustainability 
of business growth. The financial projections assume a terminal growth rate of 2% (2019: 2%) per annum 
beyond the five-year period taking into account of long term gross domestic product growth, inflation rate 
and other relevant economic factors.

The directors assessed the recoverable amount of the Beauty Products and Services CGU with reference 
to the valuations performed by Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited (“Vigers”), an independent 
qualified professional valuer, and determined that no impairment loss is required for the years ended 31 
December 2020 and 2019 as the recoverable amounts exceed the carrying amounts.

The directors of the Company believe that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on 
which the recoverable amount is based would not cause the carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its 
recoverable amount.

(ii) Impairment assessment of Robotics CGU

As at 31 December 2020, non-financial assets of the Group’s Robotics CGU mainly included intangible 
assets (including goodwill and other intangible assets), property, plant and equipment, and right-of-
use assets attributable to the Robotics CGU of HK$86,314,000, HK$16,113,000 and HK$7,862,000 
respectively, before impairment provision. For the purpose of impairment assessment, the recoverable 
amount of Robotics CGU is determined based on a value-in-use calculation which uses cash flow 
projections based on financial budgets approved by the directors of the Company covering a five-year 
period, and a pre-tax discount rate of 22.5% (2019: 22.1%) per annum.
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(ii) Impairment assessment of Robotics CGU (continued)

The financial budgets are prepared based on a five-year business plan considering the past performance, 
achievement of business targets, stability of core business development and sustainability of business 
growth. The financial budgets have also taken into consideration the developments of the Robotics CGU’s 
business, including changes in the product mix, refinement of the targeted customer segments as well as 
the resulting changes to expected costs and margins. It has also taken into consideration of the result of 
scale down of the business and relocation of research and development function during the year ended 
31 December 2020 in respond to cost saving initiatives partially a result from the adverse impact brought 
by COVID-19. The financial projections assume gross margins of approximately 30%-35% (2019: 27%-
35%), and a terminal growth rate of 2% (2019: 2%) per annum beyond the five-year period taking into 
account of long term gross domestic product growth, inflation rate and other relevant economic factors.

The directors assessed the recoverable amount of the Robotics CGU with reference to the valuations 
performed by Vigers. As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of the Robotics CGU was reduced 
to its recoverable amount through recognition of an impairment loss of approximately HK$21,037,000 
(2019: HK$57,144,000), HK$6,047,000 (2019:Nil), HK$6,194,000 (2019:Nil) and HK$7,862,000 (2019:Nil) 
in respect of goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, and right-of use assets, 
respectively. These losses are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The 
impairment is mainly a result of the difficult market environment which was further accelerated by the 
adverse effect brought by COVID-19 leading to the scale down of the operations during the year and the 
relocation of the CGU’s research centre from Canada to Mainland China which affected the CGU’s growth 
momentum.

If the gross margin used in the value-in-use calculation for the Robotics CGU deviate by 3% from 
management’s estimates at 31 December 2020, the recoverable amount of Robotics CGU would not be 
significantly affected (2019: HK$47,853,000 higher or lower than the estimate amount.)

If the pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections of this CGU had been 1% lower or higher 
than management’s estimates, the recoverable amount of Robotics CGU would not be significantly 
affected (2019: HK$8,874,000 higher or lower than the estimate amount).
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18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost:

— Trade receivables (Note 20) 6,487 15,627
— Deposits (Note 21) 2,831 3,892
— Other receivable (Note 21) 7,235 3,464
— Restricted bank deposits (Note 22) 19,017 18,970
— Cash and cash equivalents (Note 22) 57,966 32,708   

93,536 74,661   

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

— Trade payable (Note 24) 1,521 7,350
— Accruals and other payables (excluding employee benefits and  

other tax payables) (Note 25) 26,300 33,046
— Amounts due to directors (Note 34) 17,067 10,617
— Other borrowings (Note 26) 156,478 55,930
— Lease liabilities (Note 16) 11,407 23,266   

212,773 130,209   

19 INVENTORIES

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 3,401 8,952
Work-in-progress 2,963 4,409
Finished goods 4,437 14,506   

10,801 27,867   

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in “cost of sales” amounted to approximately 
HK$27,345,000 (2019: approximately HK$34,618,000). During the year ended 31 December 2020, the provision 
for impairment of inventories of approximately HK$4,303,000 (2019: HK$306,000) has been included in “cost of 
sales” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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20 TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group allows credit periods to customers ranging from 0 day to 120 days.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables net of loss allowance, presented based on invoice date is as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 — 30 days 2,296 9,951
31 — 60 days 503 683
61 — 90 days 499 262
Over 90 days 3,904 5,405   

7,202 16,301
Less: Provision for impairment of trade receivables (715) (674)   

Trade receivables, net 6,487 15,627   

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables approximate their fair values.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which use a lifetime 
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. Note 3.1(b) provides for details about the calculation of the 
allowance.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 2,898 6,723
RMB 3,589 8,168
CAD — 736   

6,487 15,627   

Movement in the loss allowance for the Group is as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 674 721
Exchange difference 41 (47)   

At 31 December 715 674   



108SuperRobotics Holdings Limited ● Annual Report 2020 Annual Report 2020 ● SuperRobotics Holdings Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Deposits 1,196 3,764   

1,196 3,764   

Current assets
Deposits 1,635 128
Prepayments 3,766 3,528
Other receivables (Note (i)) 7,235 3,464   

12,636 7,120   

Amount due from a former subsidiary (Note (ii)) 241,420 241,420
Loss allowance (241,420) (241,420)   

— —   

13,832 10,884   

There is no movement of impairment of other receivables during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 8,403 3,557
RMB 4,932 5,827
CAD 497 1,500   

13,832 10,884   

Note:

(i) Included in other receivables as at 31 December 2020 was a loan to a third party of HK$3,800,000 which is unsecured, 
bearing interest at 5% per annum and repayable by September 2021.

(ii) Included in the other receivables was a balance of HK$241,420,000 due from Blu Spa Group Limited, a former 
subsidiary. The balance was non-interest bearing, unsecured and repayable on demand. The subsidiary had not been 
consolidated since July 2011 due to lack of books and records and was subsequently disposed of at HK$1 on 19 
December 2014 to Koffman Investment Limited, a company held by a former director of the Company. Full impairment 
had been made by 30 June 2014. During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Directors of the Company filed a 
claim against the related former auditors.
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22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 57,966 32,708
Restricted bank deposits (Interest-bearing) 19,017 18,970   

76,983 51,678   

Maximum exposure to credit risk 76,817 51,330   

The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to bank balances, as the Group has placed deposits with a 
number of banks.

Restricted bank deposits were deposits held at a bank in respect of credit card and instalment sales 
arrangement from its sale of beauty products and provision of therapy services for various periods of between 
one month to three months and earn interest at rates ranging from 0.1% to 0.4% per annum (2019: 0.40% to 
1.72% per annum).

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 28,919 46,327
RMB 48,009 4,373
USD 5 60
CAD 50 918   

76,983 51,678   

At 31 December 2020, approximately HK$47,897,000 (2019: HK$4,346,000) of the Group’s cash and cash 
equivalents placed with banks in Mainland China were denominated in RMB, which is subject to foreign 
exchange control regulations of Mainland China.

23 SHARE CAPITAL

Number of
shares Amount

’000 HK$’000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each (2019: HK$0.10 each)

Authorised:
At 31 December 2019, at 1 January 2020 and at 31 December 2020 4,950,000 495,000   

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2019, at 31 December 2019 and at 31 December 2020 50,622 50,622   
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24 TRADE PAYABLES

As at 31 December 2020, the ageing analysis of trade payables by invoice date is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 — 30 days 1,268 7,350
31 — 60 days 108 —
61 — 90 days 10 —
Over 90 days 135 —   

1,521 7,350   

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables approximate their fair values.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables balances are denominated in the following currencies:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 8 622
RMB 1,022 6,380
CAD 491 333
USD — 15   

1,521 7,350   

25 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current liabilities
Interest payable (Note 26) 15,097 —   

15,097 —   

Current liabilities
Accruals 20,420 22,772
Other payables 5,261 15,966   

25,681 38,738   

40,778 38,738   

The carrying amounts of the Group’s accruals and other payables approximate their fair values.
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25 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s accruals and other payables are denominated in the following currencies:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 11,290 8,077
RMB 26,945 28,963
CAD 2,543 984
USD — 714   

40,778 38,738   

26 OTHER BORROWINGS

2020 2019

Current
Non-

current Total Current
Non-

current Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Secured (Note) — 134,752 134,752 — 34,304 34,304
Unsecured — 21,726 21,726 2,000 19,626 21,626       

Total borrowings — 156,478 156,478 2,000 53,930 55,930       

Note:

Secured borrowings are analysed as follows:

2020 2019 Prepaid and interest payable Interest rate
HK$’000 HK$’000

Facility I 43,875 34,304 March 2023 to February 2024 
(2019: March 2021 to February 2022)

15%

Facility II 90,877 — March 2022 to December 2022 15%   

134,752 34,304   

Secured borrowings of HK$134,752,000 (2019: HK$34,304,000) represent loans from HJIL. The balances are secured by 
50.51% (2019: 99%) shares of Anzer indirectly held by the Company.
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26 OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020, the borrowings were payable as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year — 2,000
Between 1 and 2 years 112,603 53,930
Between 2 and 5 years 43,875 —   

156,478 55,930   

Interest is payable upon repayment of principal.

The effective annual interest rates at the consolidated statement of financial position date were as follows:

2020 2019

Secured 15.0% 13.7%
Unsecured 10.3% 10.9%   

The carrying amounts of borrowings approximate their fair values.

The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 21,726 21,626
RMB 134,752 34,304   

156,478 55,930   
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27 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contract liabilities from provision of therapy services 25,751 28,395
Contract liabilities from provision of engineering products (Note d) 6,778 10,179   

32,529 38,574   

The movement of contract liabilities from provision of therapy services are as follows:

HK$’000

At 1 January 2019 31,149

Sales contracts entered into during the year (Note a) 47,727
Revenue recognised upon the provision of services (Note b) (33,576)
Revenue recognised upon expiry of prepaid treatment packages (Note c) (16,905)  

At 31 December 2019 and at 1 January 2020 28,395

Sales contracts entered into during the year (Note a) 28,316 
Revenue recognised upon the provision of services (Note b) (24,775)
Revenue recognised upon expiry of prepaid treatment packages (Note c) (6,185)  

At 31 December 2020 25,751  

Notes:

(a) The amounts represent receipts from provision of therapy services to clients during the year which were to be settled 
via credit cards, Electronic Payment System, cash and instalment payment arrangements.

(b) The amounts represent revenue recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as a result of 
therapy services rendered to clients during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

(c) The amounts represent revenue recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income for unutilised prepaid 
service packages.

(d) The amounts represent the receipt in advance from the sales of robots.



114SuperRobotics Holdings Limited ● Annual Report 2020 Annual Report 2020 ● SuperRobotics Holdings Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements thereon:

Recognition 
of other 

intangible 
assets

Unremitted 
earnings of 

subsidiaries 
in the PRC Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2019 5,130 29 5,159

Credit to profit or loss (Note 12) (1,819) (29) (1,848)
Exchange difference 171 — 171    

At 31 December 2019 and at 1 January 2020 3,482 — 3,482

Credit to profit or loss (Note 12) (3,386) — (3,386)
Exchange difference (96) — (96)    

At 31 December 2020 — — —    

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that realisation of the 
related tax benefits through future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognise deferred income 
tax assets of HK$88,123,000 (2019: HK$96,443,000) in respect of losses amounting to HK$361,390,000 
(2019: HK$386,034,000) that can be carried forward against future taxable income, of which HK$189,626,000 
and HK$123,757,000 (2019: HK$238,788,000 and HK$123,756,000) will expire in five years and twenty years 
respectively. The remaining amount has no expiry date.
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29 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Under the share option scheme which was granted on 3 January 2017 (the “Grant Date”), the exercise price of 
the granted options is equal to HK$8.90. Options are conditional on completing ranging from one to four years 
of services (the “Vesting Period”). The options are exercisable within five years from the Grant Date and are 
expiring on 2 January 2022 (both days inclusive).

Movements of the share options under the share option scheme during the year ended 31 December 2020 are 
as follows:

Grantee Date of Grant

Exercise 
price 
HK$

Exercise
period

As at
1 January

2020

Granted
during the

year

Exercised
during

the year

Cancelled
during the

year

Lapsed
during the

year

As at 31
December

2020

Employees of 
the Group

3 January 2017 8.90 3 January 2018 
to 2 January 
2022

2,614,325 — — (1,870,850) — 743,475

          

Total 2,614,325 — — (1,870,850) — 743,475          

The share options granted to the employees of the Group shall be vested in four equal tranches. The vesting 
periods of the share options are between the date of grant and the dates of commencement of exercise periods. 
The vesting periods and exercise periods of the share options are as follows:

Number of options
Outstanding at 
31 December 2020 Vesting period Exercise period

185,869 3 January 2017 to 2 January 2018 3 January 2018 to 2 January 2022
185,869 3 January 2017 to 2 January 2019 3 January 2019 to 2 January 2022
185,869 3 January 2017 to 2 January 2020 3 January 2020 to 2 January 2022
185,869 3 January 2017 to 2 January 2021 3 January 2021 to 2 January 2022 

743,476 

The Company has used the Binomial Option Pricing Model for assessing the fair value of the share options 
granted. According to the Binomial Option Pricing Model, the fair value of the options granted measured as 
at the date of grant of 3 January 2017 was approximately in a range of HK$3.3730 to HK$3.8671 for each of 
the four tranches at its closing price at HK$8.90 per share, taking into account various factors, variables and 
assumptions which include the following:

(i) the risk-free interest rate used was 1.592%;

(ii) the expected volatility was about 49%; and

(iii) the expected annual dividend yield of 0%.



116SuperRobotics Holdings Limited ● Annual Report 2020 Annual Report 2020 ● SuperRobotics Holdings Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE 
COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries 34,380 48,571   

34,380 48,571   

Current assets
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables — 400
Cash and cash equivalents 28 1,291   

28 1,691   

Total assets 34,408 50,262   

Equity
Capital and reserves
Share capital 50,622 50,622
Reserves (57,125) (23,994)   

Total (deficits)/equity (6,503) 26,628   

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Amounts due to directors 17,067 10,617
Other borrowings 9,726 7,626
Interest payable 671 —   

27,464 18,243   

Current liabilities
Accruals 3,446 3,004
Amount due to a subsidiary 10,001 387
Other borrowings — 2,000   

13,447 5,391   

Total liabilities 40,911 23,634   

Total equity and liabilities 34,408 50,262   

Net current liabilities (13,419) (3,700)   

Total assets less current liabilities 20,961 44,871   

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 
2021 and was signed on its behalf.

Su Zhituan Sun Ziqiang
Chairman, Director Director
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30 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE 
COMPANY (continued)

(b) Movement of reserves of the Company

Share 
premium

Contributed 
surplus

Accumulated 
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2019 488,163 27,141 (222,853) 292,451
Loss and total comprehensive loss — — (316,445) (316,445)     

At 31 December 2019 and  
at 1 January 2020 488,163 27,141 (539,298) (23,994)

Loss and total comprehensive loss — — (33,131) (33,131)     

At 31 December 2020 488,163 27,141 (572,429) (57,125)     

31 COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has no significant capital commitment (2019: Nil).

32 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF 
Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme managed by an independent trustee. The assets of the fund are 
held separately from those of the Group and are managed by independent professional fund managers. Under 
the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of 
the employees’ earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Both the employer’s and 
the employees’ contributions are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month, as appropriate, as defined in the 
Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance, and thereafter contributions are voluntary.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of state-managed retirement benefit 
schemes operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specific 
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the 
Group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes operated by the government of the PRC is to make the 
specified contributions under the schemes.

The Group participates in a retirement scheme for qualified employees of its subsidiary in Canada. Under the 
retirement scheme, each of the Group (the employer) and its employees make monthly contributions to the 
scheme at 5% of the relevant income (comprising wages and salaries) at maximum. The monthly contributions 
of each of the employer and the employee are subject to a cap of CAD2,749 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$16,200). The Group has no further obligations for post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.
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33 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash used in operations:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before taxation (136,219) (165,767)
Adjustments for:

Amortisation of other intangible assets (Note 17) 6,730 6,866
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 7,448 7,641
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) 11,038 11,423
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net (Note 7) 5 328
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 6,194 —
Impairment of right-of-use assets 7,862 —
Impairment of other intangible assets 6,047 —
Gain on liquidation of a subsidiary (8,310) —
Impairment of goodwill (Note 17) 21,037 57,144
Interest expense (Note 9) 12,181 4,283
Interest income (Note 6) (107) (222)
Write-off of property, plant and equipment 571 —
Impairment of inventories 4,303 —
Write-off of inventories 4,588 —
Equity-settled share-based compensation (Note 10) 250 4,176
Others (1,092) (96)   

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (57,474) (74,224)
— Inventories 8,654 929
— Trade receivables 9,316 (2,229)
— Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 1,082 4,004
— Trade payables (5,934) 2,531
— Accruals and other payables (2,875) 6,486
— Amounts due to directors 6,450 10,617
— Contract liabilities (6,451) 7,573   

Cash used in operations (47,232) (44,313)   

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 
comprise:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Net book amount (Note 15) 17 908
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net (Note 7) (5) (328)   

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 12 580   
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33 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both 
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows 
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash 
flows from financing activities.

Others
borrowings

Lease
liability Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January 2019 53 — 53
Recognised on adoption of HKFRS 16 — 30,734 30,734
Financing cash flows 56,396 (11,571) 44,825
Acquisition of leases — 6,046 6,046
Other non-cash items — (1,821) (1,821)
Exchange difference (519) (122) (641)    

As at 31 December 2019 55,930 23,266 79,196    

As at 1 January 2020 55,930 23,266 79,196
Financing cash flows 98,747 (10,858) 87,889
Acquisition of leases — 212 212
Other non-cash items (5,366) (1,661) (7,027)
Exchange difference 7,167 448 7,615    

As at 31 December 2020 156,478 11,407 167,885    
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34 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The following is a summary of significant related party transactions entered into in the ordinary course of 
business between the Group and its related parties and the balances arising from related party transactions in 
addition to the related party information shown elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements.

(a) Key management compensation

Key management personnel are the Company’s executive directors. Details of compensation of key 
management personnel are disclosed in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Amounts due to directors

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current
Mr. Su Zhituan (Note i) 7,900 3,950
Mr. Sun Ziqiang (Note i) 9,167 4,167
Mr. Fu HengKe (Note i) — 2,500   

17,067 10,617   

Current
Dr. Andrew Goldenberg (Note ii) 654 654
Mr. Cheng Yu (Note ii) 95 —   

749 654   

Total amount due to directors 17,816 11,271   

Notes:

(i) The payable balances with these directors are unsecured, interest free and are repayable on 31 December 
2022.

(ii) The payable balances with the directors are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. The balances 
are included in accruals and other payables (Note 25).

(c) Balances with other related parties

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Amount due from a company controlled by a non-controlling interest 1,840 1,553

Amount due to a company controlled by a non-controlling interest 73 —

Loans from non-controlling interest of a subsidiary (Note 26) 134,752 34,304   

(d) Transactions with related parties

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales of goods to a related company 1,681 30   

In the opinion of the directors, the above transactions were carried out in the normal course of the 
Group’s business and conducted at mutually agreed terms.
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35 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting periods are set out as follows:

Name of subsidiary
Place of incorporation/
operation

Issued and  
paid up share 
capital

Effective interest
held (%) Principal activities

2020 2019

Century Capital Holdings Limited The British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Century Finance (BVI) Limited The British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Century Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding

China Honest Enterprises Limited 
(“China Honest”)

Hong Kong HK$100 51% 51% Marketing development, 
product distribution and 
customer support services

EDS Distribution Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Marketing development, 
product distribution and 
customer support services

EDS International Holdings Limited The British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

China SuperRobotics Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding and 
investment in securities

ESI Automation Systems 
Corporation 

Canada CAD12 100% 100% Provision of engineering 
products and related 
services

Ace Force Holding Limited The British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

安兆科技（深圳）有限公司@ The PRC HK$25,000,000 100% 100% Dormant 

ESI Robotics Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Dormant

Star Run Investments Limited The British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

深圳市帝光實業有限公司  
(“Diguang”) (Note)#

The PRC RMB980,000 50.5% 99% Investment holding
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Name of subsidiary
Place of incorporation/
operation

Issued and  
paid up share 
capital

Effective interest
held (%) Principal activities

2020 2019

深圳市安澤智能機器人有限公司
(“Anzer”)#

The PRC RMB50,000,000 50.5% 99% Provision of engineering 
products and related 
services

深圳市安卓智能工程有限公司 # The PRC RMB30,000 50.5% 99% Provision of engineering 
products and related 
services

New Best Finance Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

ESI Robotics Canada CAD1 100% 100% Provision of engineering 
products and related 
services

Tritop Management Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

@ Wholly-owned foreign enterprise in the PRC
# Limited liability companies in the PRC

None of the subsidiaries had debt securities outstanding at the end of the reporting periods or at any time 
during the years.

Note:

Diguang is the holding company of Anzer. During the year, the Group disposed of 48.98% of the equity interest in Diguang, a 
then 99% owned subsidiary, to HJIL for a debt capitalisation of HK$5,366,000. The Group’s equity interests in the subsidiary 
was reduced from 99% to 50.51%. The difference between the debt capitalised and the carrying value of net liabilities disposed 
of in an equity transaction with non-controlling interest resulted from the change in the Group’s ownership interest in a 
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control over the subsidiary amounting to approximately HK$71,105,000 was recognised 
in equity and a decrease of approximately HK$62,121,000 was recognised in the non-controlling interests.

35 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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35 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Material non-controlling interests

As at 31 December 2020, the total non-controlling interests represent the following:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

China Honest (43) 7,774
Diguang (93,896) (1,167)   

(93,939) 6,607   

Set out below is summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are 
material to the Group. The amounts disclosed for each subsidiary are before inter-company eliminations.

Summarised statement of financial position

China Honest Diguang
2020 2019 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 35,789 54,654 65,727 37,496     

Non-current assets 3,974 10,776 10,853 31,464     

Current liabilities (39,851) (47,094) (118,526) (140,269)     

Non-current liabilities — (2,470) (146,697) (41,122)     

Equity attributable to owners of the 
Company (45) 8,092 (94,747) (111,264)     

Non-controlling interests (43) 7,774 (93,896) (1,167)     
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35 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Material non-controlling interests (continued)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

China Honest Diguang
2020 2019 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 32,259 52,489 23,506 37,408     

Profit for the year 4,045 9,520 (71,237) (55,369)     

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of  
the Company 2,063 4,856 (46,972) (54,817)

Profit/(loss) attributable to the non-
controlling interests 1,982 4,664 (24,265) (552)     

Profit/(loss) for the year 4,045 9,520 (71,237) (55,369)     

Other comprehensive (loss)/income 
attributable to owners of the Company — — (3,999) 1,906

Other comprehensive (loss)/income to the 
non-controlling interests — — (6,342) 10     

Other comprehensive (loss)/income during 
the year — — (10,340) 1,916     

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 
attributable to owners of the Company 2,063 4,856 (50,970) (52,911)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) to the 
non-controlling interests 1,982 4,664 (30,607) (542)     

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 4,045 9,520 (81,577) (53,453)     

Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (9,800) (2,940) — —     

Summarised cash flows

China Honest Diguang
2020 2019 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating 
activities 8,631 13,521 (46,585) (32,548)     

Net cash outflow from investing activities (839) (356) (39) (7,823)     

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing 
activities (24,709) (10,859) 83,584 29,186     

Net cash (outflow)/inflow (16,917) 2,306 36,960 (11,185)     
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For the year ended 31 December
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Results

Revenue 55,013 88,155 63,739 78,799 61,521      

(Loss)/profit for the year 
attributable to:

– Owners of the Company (109,602) (168,425) (132,345) (99,059) (44,946)
– Non-controlling interests (22,283) 4,112 4,639 1,948 1,198       

(131,885) (164,313) (127,706) (97,111) (43,748)      

Assets and liabilities

As at 31 December
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 141,237 206,256 258,787 383,289 318,643
Total liabilities (259,780) (179,238) (72,327) (65,472) (58,288)
Non-controlling interests 93,939 (6,607) (5,425) (2,250) (308)       

(Deficits)/equity attributable to 
owners of the Company (24,604) 20,411 181,035 315,567 260,047      
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